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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM are
generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the main board of
the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
aisclaim any liability whatsoever for any 10ss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of
their knowleage and belief, the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive and there are no other matters the omission of which
would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Dear Shareholders,

I, on behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, referred to the “Group”), have the pleasure
to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 (the “Year” or the “Reporting Period”).

During the Year, the global economy continued to navigate a
landscape of both challenges and opportunities. Supply chain
adjustments and inflationary pressures affected various regions.
However, the economy of the People’s Republic of China (PRC)
showed remarkable resilience and growth amid these challenges.
Thanks to robust policy measures, the PRC's economy experienced
steady improvement, solidifying its position as a leader in the global
economy. The gross domestic product (GDP) of the PRC recorded
a growth rate of 5.5% during this period, signaling a positive shift
towards a more favorable business environment and enhanced
market opportunities as the world moved into 2025.

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$88.3 million, representing a decrease of 21.65% against the
amount of approximately HK$112.7 million recorded in the preceding
year. Due to the underperformance of the group’s mainland
business, the group intends to shift its focus back to Hong Kong and
concentrate on its existing advertising media business. The Group
recorded a loss for the Reporting Period amounting to approximately
HK$64.8 million, as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$16.1 million in the last year whilst the loss attributable to owners
of the Company for the Reporting Period amounted to HK$60.7
million versus the net loss of approximately HK$21.1 million for the
last corresponding period.
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Chairman’s Statement =fE#HE=E

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s advertising services
segment was able to maintain stable performance despite uncertain
economic outlook and weak consumer demands, this segment
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$84.0 million for the Year
against approximately HK$66.3 million for the preceding year,
representing an increase of 26.7%, which was mainly contributed
by the advertising business in Hong Kong, thanks to its operational
efficiency achieved through cost controls, high quality offerings and
diversified clientele base.

The Group will monitor the advertising market situation in Hong Kong
closely with strategic plans in controlling the operation costs and
expenses whilst allocating its resources to maintaining the servicing
quality and seeking for other business opportunities in the industry.

Looking ahead, our group will actively seize the development
opportunities in the advertising and promotion business. With the
acceleration of digital transformation, we will focus on data-driven
marketing strategies to precisely reach our target audience. The rise
of social media and emerging platforms will provide our group with
more creative promotional channels, enhancing interaction with
consumers. Furthermore, in light of the increasing importance of
sustainability and social responsibility, our group will better reflect
these values in our advertising, shaping our brand image. Overall,
our group anticipates that, driven by technological innovation
and market demand, the advertising and promotion business will
continue to evolve and thrive.

APPRECIATION

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to thank the management
team and all the staff for their hard work and dedication to the
Group as well as the shareholders of the Company and customers,
stakeholders for their support to the Group throughout the Year.

Chan Tat Lin
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W R DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group derives its revenue mainly from (i) the provision of
advertising services, (ii) sales of new energy off-road vehicle, (iii)
sales of new energy battery and (iv) sales of health care products.

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”)
amounted to approximately HK$88.3 million, representing a decrease
of 21.65% when compared to that of approximately HK$112.7 million
for the last year, which was mainly derived from the Advertising
Services Segment in Hong Kong. Such increase was attributable
to the new business of sales of new energy off-road vehicle and
sales of health care products contribute to the Group and the
effective cost control measures and customers’ loyalty despite the
negative impacts brought by the resurgence of the pandemic and
weak market sentiments even the income of advertising has been
recorded a lightly decrease during the Year. During the Year. The
New Energy Battery Segment generated a revenue in the amount of
approximately HK$2.6 million (2024. HK$2.3 million). In 2025, sales of
new energy off-road vehicles reached HK$O million (2024: HK$10.5
million) and the sales of health care products reached HK$1.6 million
(2024 HK$33.7 million).

In the Year, the global business environment was complicated and
severe. With the tightening monetary policies, global inflationary
pressure and soaring energy prices, the global economy was slowed
down, which further posing challenges to the business environment
in World-wide, the Group has endeavored to maintain steady
operations of its Advertising Services Segment by implementing
effective cost control measures and upkeeping quality service
offerings.

During the second half of the Year, supported by the national policies
in promoting the development of green technologies in terms of
products and solutions in response to the global climate change and
the need to reduce emissions as well as soaring energy prices, the
management has adjusted the business model of its New Energy
batteries and off-road vehicles Segment and devoted resources to
the development and production of new energy batteries and off-
road vehicles with a view to bringing in various revenues to the
Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
Advertising

During the Year, the Group’s advertising services business achieved
satisfactory results with its revenue stood at approximately HK$84.1
million, as compared to HK$66.3 million, representing an increase
of 26.8%. This increase was mainly contributed by the increased
digital consumption and a greater focus on online channels since the
pandemic has accelerated shifts in consumer behavior.

However, with the strong support from the sales and marketing team
and in-house production team, the Group has offered value-added
services to its clients annual advertising solutions on various media
platforms such as advertising on mass transportation and social
media, which has sharpened its competitive edge for successfully
retaining its existing clients while expanding its client base by clients’
referrals. Thanks to strong brand equity, the Group has been able to
maintain stable client base with high degree of customer loyalty.

Facing with the global economic uncertainty, pressure was put on
the advertising revenues. The Group is going to adapt the strategies
to reach audiences effectively across evolving media platforms,
focus on diversifying revenue streams, investing in data analytics
and digital capabilities.

The Group would closely monitor the existing operations of this
segment by deploying proportionated resources to maintain a steady
operation with a view to capturing the business opportunities once
the economy has been fully recovered in 2025.

Ky

okt

3

waki

WS
Iff

RAFE  AEEMNEERBESDIES AREN
EE HEWANESMNBEBL B6IBEHD
TLIENN26.8% » E—IENMTERZHPN BRI INEH
BETAEE KRBT HEBE I RETEREE
BEMIEE -

A - ARFEHE R EEER RN EEEKRNE D
XF o ARERENSERE TS LREPRH
FEEERRT RIS ERT - IRNARB
EHREE ETERS B THFEZUEES
BEFHENBEAEFPERNRRKINEEREER
HRMEEERK  NEBEEMNESRTINEFE
RAMRENEPEBE

EH 2HREBEN TN - BERAXIIES - K
SESRBRE  ETHRRNERT S AR
BER - BINRARRZ T - RERBUEDIT
TMERFEET ©

AEBRTIEIZ OB ANEE  YHEEE
MEREFISEEE  UHERER T _HF2
ERIERFIERER RS -

ZREREEZRERAR —T-_AFFER 9



Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)
New Energy Off-road Vehicle

This year has posed significant challenges in the development of new
energy non-road vehicles, and during the review period, no revenue
from the sales of new energy non-road vehicles was recorded.

During this period, our group has carefully reviewed its business
model and is considering adjustments to the existing strategies
of that division to align with the current operational scale and
maintain stable operations. At the same time, our group is actively
redesigning non-road vehicles, including leisure vehicles, golf carts,
non-road sweepers, and hunting vehicles, with the hope of achieving
a breakthrough in the coming year.

The Group will actively seek suitable opportunities to integrate
its new energy battery business and new energy off-road vehicle
business, thereby reducing existing costs and enhancing market
competitiveness.

New Energy Battery

During the Year, HK$2.6 million of revenue was recorded from the
sales of new energy off-road vehicle. Under the impetus of favorable
government policies and technology innovation, Weishi New Energy
has made significant progress in the technology development of
graphene battery in terms of product design, safety and durability as
well as recharging speed and capacities. The Group considered that
Weishi New Energy’s long-term goal aligns with the Group's strategic
plan to shift its focus on new energy battery business, which could
share the existing technologies and setups being developed by the
Group, and make significant growth to the Group.

Health Care Products

During the Period under review, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$1.6 million as compared to that of approximately
HK$33.7 million, recorded in the Preceding Period representing a
significant decrease of approximately 95.3%. It was mainly result
from weak market sentiments during the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FUND-RAISING ACTIVITIES

In order to cope with the Group’s development in advertising
business, health care products business, new energy off-road
vehicles business and new energy battery business, the Group
carried out fund-raising activities during the second half of the
Reporting Period:

Rights Issue on the Basis of Three (3) Rights
Shares for Every One (1) Existing Share

In order to maintain sufficient liquidity and resources, on 28 June
2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing
agent, namely, Tiger Faith Securities Limited, for issuing up to
275,120,445 rights shares of the Company (the “Rights Shares”) at
a price of HK$0.10 per Rights Share (the “Rights Issue”). The closing
price was HK$0.12 per Share on 28 June 2024, being the date of the
placing agreement. On 26 September 2024, completion of the rights
issue and placing of a total of 275,120,445 Rights Shares took place
and the net price per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.094. The
net proceeds of approximately HK$25.8 million arose therefrom will
be utilized for repayment of debts, working capital of the advertising
business, expansion of the healthcare products business, research
and development of the new energy battery business, research
and development of the new energy off-road vehicles business and
general working capital. Details of the Rights Issue were set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 28 June 2024, 12 August 2024,
9 September 2024, 11 September 2024, 25 September 2024 and 20
November 2024 and the circular dated 26 July 2024.

Please also refer to the section headed “Use of Proceeds” hereunder
for details of use of net proceeds raised by the Rights Issue.

PROSPECTS

Amid the global economy is still facing various challenges brought
by the high inflationary pressure and soaring interest rates and
energy prices, with the strong support of the PRC government in
promoting the development of new energy related industries and
implementation of favorable policies to boost domestic demand and
unleash the consumption potential, the Group expects the Chinese
economy to perform better in 2025 compared to 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

PROSPECTS (continuead)

As we look towards 2026, the advertising industry is poised for
transformative growth driven by technological advancements and
changing consumer behaviors. The rapid evolution of artificial
intelligence and machine learning will enable brands to create highly
personalized marketing campaigns, allowing for deeper engagement
with target audiences. These innovations will not only enhance
efficiency in ad placements but also provide valuable insights into
consumer preferences, leading to more effective strategies.

Moreover, the rise of immersive technologies such as augmented
reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) will revolutionize how brands
communicate with consumers. Interactive advertising experiences
will become more prevalent, allowing customers to engage with
products in a virtual space, thus bridging the gap between online
and offline shopping experiences. This shift will give brands the
opportunity to create memorable experiences that resonate with
consumers on a deeper level.

Sustainability will also play a crucial role in shaping advertising
strategies in 2026. As consumers become increasingly aware of
environmental issues, brands will need to align their messaging
with sustainability goals. This will not only enhance brand reputation
but also attract a growing segment of eco-conscious consumers.
Our group will focus on integrating sustainable practices into our
campaigns, ensuring that we contribute positively to society while
meeting market demands.

Finally, the ongoing evolution of social media platforms will continue
to influence advertising trends. As new platforms emerge and
existing ones evolve, our group will remain agile, adapting our
strategies to leverage these channels effectively. By embracing
a multi-channel approach that includes influencer partnerships
and user-generated content, we aim to enhance our reach and
foster genuine connections with audiences. Overall, the advertising
landscape in 2026 promises to be dynamic and full of opportunities
for growth and innovation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Loss

The Group's revenue recorded a decrease of 21.65%, amounting to
approximately HK$24.4 million, as compared to the revenue in the
amount of approximately HK$112.7 million for the previous year,
while the loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year
stood at approximately HK$60.7 million versus that of approximately
HK$21.1 million for the last reporting year. Accordingly, the loss per
share for the Year was HK25.16 cents versus the loss per share of
HK20.77 cents for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Profit Margin

The Group's gross profit margin for the Year under review decreased
considerably to 3.67% against 21.74% for the last year. This was
mainly due increase in cost of services of advertising business during
the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’'s administrative expenses increased by 3.36% to
approximately HK$34.0 million for the Year, as compared to that of
approximately HK$32.9 million for the preceding year, which mainly
comprised of R&D costs, staff costs, legal and professional fees and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

Impairment Loss on Trade Receivables,
Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

During the Year, the Group incurred impairment loss on trade
receivables of approximately HK$11.0 million and prepayment,
deposits and other receivables of approximately HK$12.2 million,
totaling, approximately HK$23.2 million, representing a significant
increase against the total amount of approximately HK$6.8 million as
recorded in the preceding year. The details of which were disclosed
in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continuea)
Finance Costs

The Group's total finance costs increased by 9.73% to approximately
HK$2.0 million for the Year, which comprised mainly interests on
borrowings, promissory note and lease liabilities, against the total
finance costs amounting to approximately HK$1.9 million incurred for
the last year. Such increase was primarily attributable to the increase
in interest payment on borrowings during the Year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

The Group finances its operations primarily by internally generated
cash flow, equity financing and debt financing. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$0.1
million, which was significant decreased as compared to the Group's
cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$6.7 million as at 31
March 2024. Such decrease was attributable to the high demand
for the financial resources to cope with the Group’s operating and
strategic investment plans/acquisitions. The Group’s current ratio,
being calculated on the basis of current assets over current liabilities,
was 2.78, versus 2.71 as at 31 March 2024. The Group considered
that the present current ratio is at a reasonable level.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$5.8 million, representing a decrease of 64.23%
versus the amount of approximately HK$10.4 million as at 31 March
2024. The Group's borrowings primarily comprise unsecured loans,
which are dominated in HK$ and at fixed interest rate. The gearing
ratio of the Group, being calculated on the basis of total borrowings
over total assets, was 5.84%, which was lower than that of 10.1%
as at 31 March 2024. Such decrease in gearing ratio was due to the
decrease in borrowings of the Group during the Year.

In order to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position, the
Group has successfully allotted and issued 275,120,445 right shares
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per right share on 26 September
2024. The net proceeds derived therefrom have been/will be utilized
for debts repayment, expansion of the Group's business and general
working capital of the Group, details of the use of proceeds are set
out in the paragraph headed “Use of Proceeds” below.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Going Concern and Mitigation Measures

In order to meet the financial obligations of the Group as and when
they fall due within the next twelve months, the directors of the
Company have been undertaking a number of measures to improve
the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which included:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The Group has implemented measures to accelerate the
collection of the outstanding trade receivables and loans to
third parties;

The Group has been actively negotiating with creditors and
lenders for renewal and extension of borrowings which are
repayable during the year ending 31 March 2025;

The Group has taken steps to improve its operating efficiency
by implementing cost control measures on various operating
expenses in order to improve the cash flow from its
operations and enhance profitability in future; and

The Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to secure new
financing arrangement to meet the Group’s working capital
and financial requirements in the near future. The Group
will also actively seek opportunities to carry out fund raising
activities including but not limited to the placing of new
shares or rights issue as alternative sources of funding.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continuea)

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rate and
Treasury Policies

The majority of the Group's cash balances and transactions were
either denominated in RMB or HK$. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. Nevertheless, the management of
the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise. As at
31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have any outstanding
hedging instruments.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 25 employees in total (2024:
42), stationed mainly in China and Hong Kong. The total staff
costs, including key management’'s remuneration, amounted to
approximately HK$5.7 million (2024: HK$9.5 million). The Group's
emolument policies, which are reviewed periodically, are linked
to the performance of individual employees and are based on the
salary trends prevailing in the aforesaid regions. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible employees
including directors by reference to performance of the Group and
the individual employees. The Group also participated in approved
mandatory provident fund scheme and the retirement benefit
scheme for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

Significant Investments and Material Acquisitions
and Disposals and Future Plans for Material
Investments and Capital Assets

Save for the matters disclosed in this report, there were no other
significant investments and material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year.
There were no plans authorized by the Board for other material
investments and addition of capital assets as at the date of this
report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Pledge of Assets

The Group did not pledge any of its assets as securities for any
facilities granted to the Group for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any material commitments as at 31 March
2025 and 2024.

Events after the Reporting Period

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements,
there are no significant events affecting the Group which have
occurred after the Year and up to the date of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & &1 & 57

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) BT ERE ()
Use of Proceeds FEREHE

During the Year, the Group carried out the following equity fund FR - AEBEBEA TRESE R HE_F
raising exercises and as at 31 March 2025, the actual uses of —HAF=ZA=+—H  FISRENEREAROT
proceeds are shown as follows:

(i) As at 31 March 2025, the utilization of the net proceeds (i)
amounting to approximately HK$25.8 million raised from the
Right Issues is set out below:

RZZE_RFE=A=+—8 #HEMERX
THFEH 258 B BB TTHREEIINT ¢

Utilization
as at
31 March Remaining
Intended Use Allocation 2025 Balance
R-ZB-HF
=A=+-—H
pal i B AER Flehateh
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Repayment of Debts BEES 7,500 7,500 -
Working Capital of BREXEBEEER 3,000 3,000 -
Advertising Business
Expansion of Healthcare — #hE{RiE M ER 3,000 3,000 -
Products Business
R&D of New Energy FTRLRE M RS B 3,000 3,000 -
Battery Business
R&D of New Energy FTRLRIEERES TE 3,300 3,300 -
Off-road Vehicles E oIy
Business
General Working Capital —f&&84 ¢ 6,000 6,000 -
Total: HEt 25,800 25,800 -
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREERB ZBEFE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. MOU zZhongwei ("“Mr. Mou"), aged 68, has been appointed
as an executive director of the Company on 19 August 2020. Mr.
Mou has been appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 16
September 2022, and the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company. He was the authorised representative of the Company
under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing Rules and the authorised
representative of the Company under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) between September 2022 to
February 2025.

Mr. Mou is currently the chairman of Hainan Xinshanghe Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd., Hainan Shanghe Chaodian New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd. and Hainan Shanghe Aviation Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Mou has many years of experience in the
new technology industry and accumulated extensive knowledge in
the related business.

Mr. Chan Tat Lin (“Mr. Chan"), aged 39, has been appointed as
executive Director, the authorised representative under Rule 5.24 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the authorised representative under the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of the
Company on 28 February 2025.

Mr. Chan currently serves as the director of Checkpoint Fitness &
Yoga Co. Limited, a position he has held since 2016. Mr. Chan has
extensive experience in the wellness sector, particularly in fostering
team collaboration and enhancing customer experiences.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continuead)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LUI Chi Kin ("Mr. Lui"), aged 41, has been appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company and chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company on 21 September 2022.

Mr. Lui is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute Certified Public
Accountants with practicing qualification. He obtained his degree
of BBA (Hons) in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2008. Mr. Lui had worked as an auditor for H. C. Watt
& Company Limited, BDO Limited and Edward Lau & Company. He
has rich experience in providing auditing to listed companies as well
as multinational corporations for more than ten years. Mr. Lui is the
managing director of UP CPA & Co., Certified Public Accountants
(Practising) and Union Professional Limited since 2017.

Mr. SHIN Ho Chuen (“Mr. Shin”), aged 36, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company on 16 February 2023.

Mr. Shin has over ten years of law related working experience. Mr.
Shin was employed by David Fong & Co. as an assistant solicitor
from July 2016 to July 2020 and he has been a partner of the firm
since August 2020.

Mr. Shin obtained a bachelor of laws degree and a postgraduate
certificate in laws from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
November 2012 and July 2013, respectively. He was admitted as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in March 2016. Since March 2022, Mr. Shin has
been an independent director of Onion Global Limited (OGBLY: US), a
company currently listed on U.S. OTC Markets. Mr. Shin is currently
an independent non-executive director of FingerTango Inc. (Stock
Code: 6860) since August 2023, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Ms. LI Hiu Wah ("Ms. Li"), aged 39, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee, and a member of each of the audit
committee and the nomination committee of the Company on 16
October 2024, Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree in Professional
Accounting from the Open University of Hong Kong. She is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She possesses over 16 years of experience finance & accounting,
process improvement and ERP projects in exhibition and luxury retail
businesses. She is also experienced in leading multi finance teams
in Hong Kong and other Asian cities, and worked closely to other
regions in United Kingdom, United States, Italy and India. She is now
an assistant manager in a private entrepreneurial company based in
Hong Kong.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Group are advertising in Hong Kong, the sales of
healthcare products, new energy off-road vehicles and the sales of
new energy battery in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this report.

Risks and uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group have been
addressed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report. In addition, various financial risks have been
disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment
from its business activities. The Group continually seeks to identify
and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational
activities in order to minimise these impacts if possible. The Group
aims to promote efficient use of resources and adopting green
technologies for emission reduction. For instance, the Group seeks
to upgrade equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning systems
in order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy
efficiency opportunities, the Group measures and records the energy
consumption intensity from time to time.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in
parts of business to improve performance and efficiency of the
Group. While gaining the benefits from external service providers,
the management realises that such operational dependency
may pose a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses
in service including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages
only reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their
performance.
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Report of the Directors EE =&

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Relationships with employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders

The Group ensures all staff are reasonably remunerated and
regularly review the employment policies on remuneration and
other benefits. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers. The Group maintains close contacts with
the customers and has regular review of requirements of customers
and complaints. The Group will conduct review on the suppliers’
performance on regular basis.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 84 to 85 of this annual report. Other movements
in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 88 to 89 of this annual report.

There is no arrangement pursuant to which a shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholder(s)”) has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The amount of dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend upon the earnings and financial condition, operating
requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions that the
Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to the approval of
the Shareholders.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Act of Bermuda and the Bye-
laws. Any declaration and/or payment of future dividends under
the Dividend Policy are/is subject to the Board’s determination and
would be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders as
awhole.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 184 of this annual
report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of proceeds of the Company during the Year are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the bye-laws of
the Company or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF SHARES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities (including
sale of treasury shares) during the Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2025,
as required in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda (as
amended).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation for the year ended
31 March 2025.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, sales to the Group’s five largest
customer’s accounted for 72.8% of the total revenue for the Year
and revenue to the largest customer included therein amounted to
22.1%. Purchases from the Group’s two largest suppliers accounted
for 89.1% of the total purchases for the Year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Chairman)
Mr. Li Guangying (resigned on 7 August 2024)
Mr. Chan Tat Lin (appointed on 28 February 2025)

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Dongmei (resigned on 5 July 2024)
Ms. Liu Ying (resigned on 5 July 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(s)")

Mr. Luo Ji (resigned on 16 October 2024)

Mr. Lui Chi Kin

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen

Ms. Li Hiu Wah (appointed on 16 October 2024)
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INED(S)")
(Continued)

In accordance with Bye-Law no. 87 of the Bye-law of the Company,
one-third of the Directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the "AGM").

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed
and put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee (as
defined below) as set out below under the section on Nomination
committee.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from the above INEDs, and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 19 to 21 of this report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS' INFORMATION

Subsequent to the date of the interim report for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 of the Company to the date of this report,
there are no changes in the Directors’ information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the Company'’s forthcoming
annual general meeting have an unexpired service contract, which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein under note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance (including those for
the provision of service) to the business of the Group to which
the holding company of the Company, or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or a controlling shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff's experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee and decided by the
Board, with reference to the market rates, commitment, contribution
and their duties, and responsibilities with the Group. Details of
directors’ remuneration are set out in details in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set
out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company,
as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as known to the Directors or chief executives of the Company,
as at 31 March 2025, no person or corporation (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed
to have an interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying
shares which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who
were directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other
member of the Group.

COMPETITION INTEREST

None of the Directors, the controlling Shareholders or substantial
Shareholders or any of its respective close associates has engaged
in any business that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules, or has or may have any other conflict of interests with
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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PURCHASES, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2025.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

To align with the amendments to Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing
Rule relating to share schemes which came into effect on 1 January
2023, the share option scheme of the Company (the “Scheme”) was
adopted by the Shareholders and it became effective on 6 April
2023. A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out as
follows:

(@) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to
grant share options of the Company (the “Option(s)”) to the
Participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to
the Group. The Scheme will give the Participants (as defined
in paragraph (b) below) an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company and will help achieve the following
objectives:

(i) motivate the Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency; and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain a long term
relationship with the Participants whose contributions
are or will be in line with the business objectives of
the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

(b)

(c)

(d)

30

Eligible Participants

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms
as it may think fit, grant to any directors and employees of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including persons who
are granted Options under the Scheme as an inducement to
enter into employment contracts with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries) (the “Participant(s)”), Options to subscribe at
a price calculated in accordance with paragraph (iii) below for
such number of Shares as it may determine in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme.

Total number of shares of the Company
available for issue under the Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued in
respect of all Options or awards to be granted under the
Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Scheme (the “Scheme Mandate Limit").
As at the date of this report, the number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme was 7,642,281 Shares (after
adjustment of the capital reorganisation effective on 21 May
2024).

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the Options and awards granted to each
Participant or grantee (including exercised and outstanding
Options but excluding any Options and awards lapsed in
accordance with the terms of such schemes) in any twelve
(12)-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed
1% of the number of the total issued Shares at the date of
grant (the “Individual Limit"). Where any grant of Options to a
Participant would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all Options granted to such person (excluding
any Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Shares
of the Company in issue, such grant must be separately
approved by Shareholders of the Company in general
meeting with such Participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the Participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

(e)

(f)

(8

(h)

)

Term of exercise of the Options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
offer of the Options subject to the terms of the Scheme.

Vesting period of options granted under the
Scheme

The vesting period of the Options shall be between 12
to 36 months as the Board may determine. Save for the
circumstances prescribed below, an Option must be held by
the grantee for at least twelve (12) months before the Option
can be exercised. A shorter vesting period may be granted
to the Participants at the discretion of the Board in certain
circumstances as set out in the Scheme.

Payment on acceptance of an Option offer

The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option is HK$1.00.

Basis on determining of the exercise price

The exercise price of an Option granted under the Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to
a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of offer of the Option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date
of offer.

Remaining life of the Scheme
The Scheme will remain in force until 5 April 2033.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) BARERTEl (2

Details of the Options movements during the year ended 31 March  BIER —Z =400 AN B IE8 L pT A EE
2025 under previous share option scheme terminated on 6 April  NitEIREE_Z_RAF=-A=+—HILFEZE

2023 and the Scheme are as follows: fREFEFHBNT ¢
Number of share options
BRESA
Balance as Balance as
Name or Date of Exercise at Granted Vested  Exercised Lapsed  Canceled at
category of grant of price Exercise 01.04.2024  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  31.03.2025
grantees options (HKS) period (Note 6) Year Year Year Year Year (Note 6)
R R
—E-NE —E-TE
BA-B ZR=t-H
ARAN Rt W M
ERAER ERERH itid:d (ko) EhEHY FRCHR  FREAE  ERBAN (Hyit6)
Directors
£
Mr MouZhongwei  16/02/2023  HKS2759  16/02/2023-15/02/2026 418,600 - - - - - 418,600
(Note 1) (Note 6) (Note 2)
BREEE 16022003 2759 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(ft) (Mse)  (Ws2)
Mr. Li GUangying 16/02/203  HKS2759  16/02/2023-15/02/2026 358,800 - - - - 358,800 -
(Note 3) (Note 1) (Note¢)  (Note2)
ShERE 16000203 2759%T  16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Bs3E3) (ffst1) (ko) (Wt2)
Ms.Wang Dongmei  16/02/2023  HKS2759  16/02/2023-16/02/2026 418,600 - - - - 418,600 -
(Note 4) Note 1) (Noted)  (Note2)
TRt 16002203 27597 16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(Bzka) (Hss1) (k) (W3t2)
Senior Management
BREEE
Mr. Mu Ruifeng 16/02/2023  HKS2759  16/02/2023-15/02/2026 139932 - - - - - 139932
(Note'5) (Note ) (Note 6)
BRELE 16002203 27597 16/02/2023-15/02/2006
(MzEs) (FfsE1) (Fze)
Other Participants
Efhg8RE
Employees 160022023 HKS2759  16/02/2023-15/02/2026 2738494 - - - - 418600 2,319,894
(Note 1) (Note 6)
[E8 160022023 2759%T  16/02/2023-15/02/2026
(B3E1) (Fize)
Total 4,074,426 - - - - 1900 287842
a5t
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuea)

Notes:

1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before 16 February 2023,
on which those options were granted, was HK$0.150.

2. The options shall be vested to the Grantees on 16 February 2024.
There was no performance target nor clawback mechanism attached
to the Options.

3. Mr. Li Guangying has resigned as the executive Director with effect
from 7 August 2024.
4. Ms. Wang Dongmei has resigned as the non-executive Director with

effect from 5 July 2024.

5. The position of Mr. Mu Ruifeng as the chief executive office of the
Company has been terminated with effect from 11 March 2025.

6. The exercise price and number of Shares to be issued upon exercise
of the outstanding options had been adjusted as a result of the
capital reorganisation on 21 May 2024 and completion of rights issue
on 26 September 2024.

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, the total number of options
available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit and available
for issue under the Scheme were 121,578,339. There was no service
provider sublimit set under the Scheme.

RELATED PARTY AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

There were no transactions required to be disclosed as non-exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules during the
Year. The Company has complied with the disclosure reguirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and the code provisions as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”") as set out in Appendix
C1 of the GEM Listing Rules. The information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 36 to 50 of this report.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
on 28 March 2022 and Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 10
May 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Elite
Partners CPA Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

Mazars CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, resigned as the
auditor of the Company on 17 March 2023 and ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited, was appointed as the auditor of the Company on é April
2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Mazars
CPA Limited, Certified Public Accountants, and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next AGM.
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AUDITORS (continuea)

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
March 2023, 2024 and 2025 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited. ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited will retire, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM. A resolution to re-appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as the
auditor of the Company to be proposed at the forth coming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Tat Lin
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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The Board and the management of the Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
process. The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and
enhancing shareholders’ value.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions (the “Code Provision”) as set
out in the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The principles adopted by the Company emphasize a quality
board, sound internal controls and transparency and accountability
to shareholders. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has
complied with the CG Code for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors, its employees, and the directors and
employees of its subsidiaries and holding companies (the “Relevant
Employees”), who may likely possess inside information on the
Company or its securities, on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors and the
Relevant Employees, they all confirmed that they had complied with
the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors adopted by the Company during
the Year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board consisted of five
Directors, including two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board has a balance of skill and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company, and demonstrates a
proper diversity with its directors coming from different backgrounds,
nationality, professional and industries. The Director’s biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” of this report. There is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships
among the Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 requires the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set
out in writing. The chairman of the Company is performed by Mr.
Mou Zhongwei, the executive Director, while the chief executive
officer of the Company was performed by Mr. Mu Ruifeng (“Mr. Mu”)
until 11 March 2025.

Upon the termination of Mr. Mu as the chief executive officer of the
Company effective from 11 March 2025, the Company currently
has no chief executive officer in place. The Board is in the course of
identifying suitable candidates with sufficient knowledge, skills and
experience to fill the vacancy and will publish further announcement
as and when appropriate.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one of them
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or
related financial management expertise. At all times during the Year,
the independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-third
of the Board pursuant to Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence, and the
Company considers that these directors to be independent under
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) were appointed with no fixed term and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in pursuant to the
bye-laws of the Company.

LIABILITY INSURANCE FOR THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for appropriate Directors and Officers
liability insurance coverage to indemnify the Directors and Officers
for their liabilities in respect of legal action against them.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES
AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting
the success of the Company by the direction and supervision of the
Company’s business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for
the day to day management of the Company which is delegated to
the Chairman and the management.

All Directors have full access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and management. The
Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision for all major issues relating
to policy matters, internal control, strategies, budgets, risk
management, material transactions, financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant operational issues of
the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management are delegated to the management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution
required from each Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company.
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DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS EEZEve3mHERIH

The Board regularly meets in persons or through other electronic ZEHFETHHSEFERBEBEMET BN
means of communication to review and determine the overall &% @ AEMMEBETEERBEIANEEZ BHtF
strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim &« FEIRFEEEUNGREEMEZET - @3
and annual results, and other significant matters. Due notices of the [FXAMEFETEHESH s 2EBEE  Hh#H
meetings are given to all Directors to attend and include matters for B FrwmZEET - EFeSKEREHEZ T —F
discussion. Details of the attendance of each member of the Board #F=A=+—HLtFEAREFeeFH EZEZ
at the meetings of the Board, its respective committees and the E& RIRE RS 2 HFERFEFEHIWOT ¢

general meetings during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out

as follows:

Meetings attended/held
EESENY ERETRE
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
=g ERZEE E270 PN REZEE BRRAE

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Mou Zhongwei ERELE 410 N/A T N/A i 3/4 3/3
Mr. Li Guangying Fhekt (@ 1" N/A TEA N/A TEH N/A TEF 0/1
Mr. Chan Tat Lin BREFLE i 11 N/A TN@E N/A TN N/A @ 0/0

Non-Executive Directors F#TE=

Ms. Wang Dongmei TRt (b) 0/0 N/A @ F N/A i A N/A i 0/0
Ms. Liu Ying £y © 0/0 N/A @R N/A i N/A i 0/0
Independent Non- BYFHTES
Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Ji BELE (d) 2/2 11 2/2 2/2 3/3
Mr. Lui Chi Kin EEREE 10/10 474 4/4 4/4 3/3
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen ENor s 10/10 4/4 4/4 4/4 3/3
Ms. Li Hiu Wah FEELL ©) 8/8 3/3 11 1" 0/0
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DIRECTORS' ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Li Guangying was resigned as the executive Director with effect
from 7 August 2024.

(b) Ms. Wang Dongmei was resigned as the non-executive Director with
effect from 5 July 2024.

(© Ms. Liu Ying was resigned as the non-executive Director with effect
from 5 July 2024.

(d) Mr. Luo Ji was resigned as the independent non-executive Director
with effect from 16 October 2024.

(e) Ms. Li Hiu Wah been appointed as the independent non-executive
Director with effect from 16 October 2024.

() Mr. Chan Tat Lin has been appointed as the executive Director with

effect from 28 February 2025.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence
of executive Directors during the Year.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for
inspection by the Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Directors are aware of their individuals and collective
responsibilities to the shareholders for the success and wellbeing of
the Company. To strengthen the effectiveness of the management,
the Board has established three committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “"Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) to oversee corresponding aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
have defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the GEM website of the Stock Exchange, and are available to
shareholders upon request.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established the Audit Committee on 20 March
2001. The formation of the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference is in compliance with Rules 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among other
things (a) to review the Group’s annual report, interim report and
quarterly reports; (b) to discuss and review with the auditors of the
Company on the scope and findings of the audit; and (c) to supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures and
overall risk management of the Group. The Group's unaudited interim
results for the six months ended 30 September 2024 and audited
annual results and consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee,
which is of opinion that the preparation of such results complied
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosure have been made.

The composition of the Audit Committee during the Year and up to
the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lui Chi Kin (Chairman)

Mr. Luo li (resigned on 16 October 2024)

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen

Ms. Liu Hiu Wah (@ppointed on 16 October 2024)

All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive
Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Lui Chi Kin, who
has extensive accounting and related financial reporting expertise.
The Audit Committee held 4 meetings during the Year for reviewing
and considering the audited annual results for the year ended
31 March 2024 and the draft unaudited interim results for the six
months ended 30 September 2024, the internal control procedures
of the Group, the adequacy of staff experience, qualifications,
resources of the company’s accounting and financial reporting
departments, training programs and budget and re-appointment of
auditor. Details of the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings
as prescribed aforesaid.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
GEM Listing Rules, and it is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure in relation
to remuneration of the Directors and senior management. It
schedules to meet at least once a year to review and determine
the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and to make recommendation to the Board of
the remuneration of non-executive Director. In determining and
approving the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
the Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance and
profitability of the Company and with reference to the written term
of reference pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code as set out
in the requirements under rules 5.34 and 5.35 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee during the Year
and up to the date of this report is as follows:

Ms. Li Hiu Wah (Chairman)

(@ppointed on 16 October 2024)
Mr. Luo li (resigned on 16 October 2024)
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen

The majority members of the Remuneration Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, the
Remuneration Committee convened 4 meetings during the Year
and has reviewed the remuneration policy and structure relating
to the Directors and senior management of the Company, made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration package of the
Directors. No individual Director is involved in deciding his or her
own remuneration. Details of the attendance of the Remuneration
Committee meetings as prescribed aforesaid.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management by band for the Year was
within the following band:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established by the Company on
29 March 2012. The primary duties of the nomination committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board on appointment and re-
appointment of Directors.

The composition of the Nomination Committee during the Year and
up to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Mou Zhongwei (Chairman)

Mr. Luo Ji (resigned on 16 October 2024)

Mr. Lui Chi Kin

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen

Ms. Liu Hiu Wah (@ppointed on 16 October 2024)

The majority members of the nomination committee are independent
non-executive Directors. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
held 4 meetings reviewed the size, diversity and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board on the nomination
of Directors and senior management and on the re-election of
Directors at the general meeting, assessed the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and reviewed the board
diversity policy and board nomination policy of the Company.
Details of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings as
prescribed aforesaid.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly, selection
of candidates to the Board is based on a range of measurable
objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications,
skills, knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the
Company'’s own business model and specific needs from time to
time.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The Board currently comprises of five Directors, one of which is
female. Our diversity philosophy is to avoid a single gender Board.
Three of our Directors are in the age group of 30-39, one in the age
group of 40-49 and one in age group of 60-69. The background
of our Directors including new technology industry, customer
experience, business administration, finance and accounting, audit
and law. In view of these, the Nomination Committee was of the
opinion that the Board consisted of members with diversified gender,
age, cultural and education background, professional/business
experience, skills and knowledge.

The Board considers that the Company has achieved gender
diversity at the Board level and targets to maintain, or if suitable
candidates are identified further enhance, such achievement. In
striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations are used
when recruiting and selecting key management and other personnel
across the Group's operations.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group maintained a 1:4 ratio of women to
men in the workplace. The Board was not aware of any mitigating
factors or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management) more
challenging or less relevant. For details of our hiring practices, please
refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section
of this report.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the formulation of
nomination policies, making recommendations to Shareholders on
directors standing for re-election, providing sufficient biographical
details of directors to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the re-election, and where necessary, hominating
appropriate persons to fill causal vacancies or as additions to the
Board. The nomination committee from time to time reviews the
composition of the Board with particular regard to ensuring that there
is an appropriate number of directors on the Board independent of
management. He also identifies and nominates qualified individuals
for appointment as new directors of the Company.

New directors of the Company will be appointed by the Board. The
Nomination Committee will take into consideration criteria such as
expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when considering
new director appointments.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of GEM Listing Rules, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
company secretary reports from time to time the latest changes and
development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other regulatory regime to the Directors with written materials,
on the professional knowledge and latest development of regulatory
requirements related to director’s duties and responsibilities. Up to
the date of this report, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by reading in-house training handbook,
relevant materials or attending training seminar on the topics related
to corporate governance as follows:

Name of Directors

FEEXREE
1RIEGEM LTRAIZ FRIGEXECIAM - 218

ERSESBHERERIDE R F RS 2 ANH N
B o W AERRSFERESSEL NS A
BER - ARWETRAERER MR - b
EATRAREMEEE 2 KA EBNER - A
REFHESHHIBEZEXNBEREETRTR
MERZEEER - BEAREHY  28F=C
FEEREAREFTM - HEEN KL FEAEREE
ﬁaI%ZiM%%ﬁ/ﬂﬁhiﬁﬁﬁ =B

71

Reading
materials/In
house briefing

Attending
Seminars

BIEE R,
AENLE

HH A

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Mou Zhongwei BERERE v -

Mr. Li Guangying FHhEFTE v -

Mr. Chan Tat Lin (appointed on PRiEFEE (RZFE-AF—H - -
28 February 2025) A+ HEZ(E)

Non-Executive Directors FHITES

Ms. Wang Dongmei (resigned on TR T (R=F=GF v -
5 July 2024) + A A AT

Ms. Liu Ying (resigned on 5 July 2024) R+ (R=ZF=UF+ A7 AFHF) v -

Independent Non-Executive Directors BN IFHTES

Mr. Luo Ji (resigned on EEEEAE (RZF_mF v -
16 October 2024) + A+ NEHEHT)

Mr. Lui Chi Kin BEEEBREAE v -

Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BB AE v -

Ms. Li Hiu Wah @ppointed on TEELLT (R-F_YF v -

16 October 2024) + A+ NEHEZTE)

All the Directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training or reading relevant materials in order to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining and reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Group. The
internal control system is to safeguard the assets of the Group and
the shareholders’ investment and to ensure the reliability of financial
reporting as well as compliance with the relevant requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board
had reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control of
the Group, which covered all material aspects including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
of the Group. The Board considers its risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate. The Board also considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experiences of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training program and budget.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial
statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. The
Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the Year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR'S
REMUNERATION

The Company’s independent external auditor is ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited (“ZHONGHUI ANDA"). The Audit Committee is mandated
to ensure continuing auditor’'s objectivity and safeguarding
independence of the auditors. Up to the date of his annual report,
the Audit Committee has considered and made recommendation to
the Board on the engagement of ZHONGHUI ANDA as auditor of the
Group in respect of the consolidation financial statements for the
Reporting Period and the corresponding audit fees estimation.

For the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid/payable by the
Company to ZHONGHUI ANDA and other ZHONGHUI ANDA network
firms in respect of their audit and other non-audit services were as
follows:

SRR BH AT B A Z R BN <=

KR BIRE L SNBAZBREN S P IE 2= @ R R B A5
BERAR(THERE]) - BERZEQERERRK
REBEFFERFSFBIE MREZBEIA B - &
EEFRAY ELZECCERZETERER
AREERN RS HRGRE M RROZEED - XTRE
EEMGEEAER LM EFEERAEFSRD
et

WEHN - ARBEN AR ERE R E M AE
ZEMR BB E T R E A IEE 5T AR B 4
T

HK$
BIT
Annual audit services FEETR® 820,000
Non-audit services e ETARTE
- Services in relation to internal control review services — B A SR eI 2 B BRI 0 AR TS 70,000
— Services in relation to environmental, social and —BERE g REAMERNRY
governance reporting 70,000
— Services in relation to right issue — B IR AR 140,000
- Services in relation to adjustments to the outstanding — B AR REN RS
share options 20,000
Total fees BER 1,120,000
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable and time
manner by the Board is to facilitate the shareholders as well as the
investors to have better understanding in relation to the business
performance, operations and strategies of the Group. Through our
website which allows the Company’s potential and existing investors
as well as the public to assess and acquire the up-to-date company
and financial information.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the shareholders, the
investors and the public are as follows:

- Delivery of the annual, interim and quarterly reports; and

- Publication of announcements on the annual, interim and
quarterly results on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company'’s website, and issue of other announcements
and notices, and shareholders’ circulars in accordance with
the continuing disclosure obligations under the GEM Listing
Rules.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Au Yeung Yiu Chung (“Mr. Au Yeung") has been appointed as the
Company Secretary on 23 May 2018. Mr. Au Yeung is a Chartered
Governance Professional and fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI). He is also a holder of the
Practitioner’'s Endorsement issued by HKCGI. Mr. Au Yeung is also an
associate member of Association of International Accountants (AAIA),
member of Australia Institute of Public Accountants (IPA), member
of UK. Institute of Financial Accountants (IFA). During the Year, Mr.
Au Yeung has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training
pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules to update his skills
and knowledge.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are properly followed and for facilitating communications
among Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convening a special general meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company ("Bye-laws”),
special general meetings (the "SGM”) of the Company shall be
convened on the requisition of any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. Such shareholders shall have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require an SGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
the SGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding
information of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the
proposal he/she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send written enquiries or requests,
either by post, by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her
contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing
to the Board of the Company at the following address or facsimile
number or via email:

Room 2004B

Kai Tak Commercial Building
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3709 9354

Email: info@jiadingint.com
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)
Making Enquiries to the Board (continuea)

All enquiries shall first be collected by the Company Secretary who
shall report to the executive Directors periodically. The executive
Directors shall review the enquiries and collect answers from
relevant department. The executive Directors will reply the enquiries
directly or authorise the Company Secretary to reply enquiries in
writing.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition or enquiry to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholder original duly signed
written requisition or enquiry is disclosed as required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The latest version of the Bye-laws has been published both on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, there had been no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

Investor Relations

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its
shareholders and investment public. The Company updates its
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly reports.
The corporate website of the Company (www.jiadingint.com) has
provided an effective communication platform to the public and
the shareholders. The Company reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy and
considered it to be effective.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIB  HERERHRE

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
pleased to present the environmental, social and governance
(hereinafter referred to as the “ESG") report of the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the period from 1 April 2024 to
31 March 2025 (the “FY2025") with an aim to provide details of
the system establishment and performance of the Group in terms
of sustainable development to both the internal and external
stakeholders.

This report is the fifth Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “ESG Report”) prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. This report highlights the Group'’s
environmental and social initiatives and activities in FY2025. For
information on the corporate governance section, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report.

The ESG Report intends to give insight into the approach adopted
and actions taken by the Group regarding its operations and
sustainability to reflect the impact on the Group and the interests of
stakeholders. The ESG Report was presented as information in two
areas, namely the environmental and social areas.

The Company is committed to creating sustainable value for
stakeholders by implementing ESG management framework
into its business operations, with the aim of building sustainable
development goals into its day-to-day operations. The Company
focuses on reducing its environmental impact, caring for employee
well-being, and contributing more to the community, in order to be
responsible to all stakeholders.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
Board's oversight of ESG issues

The Board of Directors plays a primary role in overseeing the
ESG issues of the Group. In FY2025, the Board, management and
employees who have responsibility for ESG issues assessed the
impact of ESG-related risks on operations from time to time, and
developed ESG-related policies to address the associated risks.
The Board ensures that management and employees who have
responsibility for ESG issues have all the appropriate tools and
resources to direct ESG issues.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (continued)
Board's oversight of ESG issues (continued)

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to transparency and
accountability, management and employees who have responsibility
for ESG issues review and evaluate the Group’s performance on ESG
issues and report to the Board on a regular basis.

ESG management approaches and strategies for
material ESG-related issues

The Group conducts materiality assessments annually, in order
to better understand the views and expectations of different
stakeholders on ESG issues. The Group ensures that it uses a
variety of platforms and communication channels to reach, listen
and respond to its key stakeholders. Through comprehensive
communication with stakeholders, the Group is able to understand
their expectations and concerns. The feedback received enables the
Group to make more informed decisions and to better evaluate and
manage the impact of such business decisions.

The Group assessed the importance of ESG issues through the
following steps: (i) identifying ESG issues,; (ii) prioritising key
ESG issues with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) verifying and
determining material ESG issues based on communication with
stakeholders.

Taking these steps may enhance the understanding of the
importance that the Group’s stakeholders attach to various ESG
issues and enable the Board to plan more comprehensively for the
future direction of sustainable development.

Review of progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets

The Group from time to time carefully reviewed the performance and
progress made against ESG-related goals and targets. If progress falls
short of expectations or business operations change, modifications
and communication with key stakeholders, such as employees,
customers and suppliers, regarding goals and targets may be
required.

The Group has set its future strategic objectives to develop a
practical way forward and focus on achieving its vision. The Board
weighs the philosophy and objectives of the Group and carefully
examines whether these objectives can be achieved.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report was prepared based on the four reporting principles set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagements and materiality assessments
are conducted annually to identify material ESG issues and to ensure
that these issues are reflected in the Group's reports.

Quantitative: The data presented in this report has been carefully
collected. Please refer to environmental and social performance data
for the standards and methodologies used to calculate KPIs.

Balance: The report provided transparent, unbiased and balanced
disclosure of the Group’s performance.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, disclosures, data collection
and calculations have remained consistent over the years to allow
for comparisons at any time.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The principal businesses of the Group include (i) provision of
advertising services; (ii)sales of new energy off-road vehicles; (iiijsales
of new energy batteries; and (iv) sales of health products. During
FY2025, the Group devoted itself to establishing high standards of
corporate social responsibility and strictly complied with the relevant
laws and regulations mentioned in the ESG Reporting Guide.

Data on key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are only collected
from operations under the Group’s direct control. The Group will
continuously enhance information on key ESG aspects in order
to strengthen the disclosure of sustainability information where
applicable.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating
environmental and social strategies, defining the Group’s objectives,
assessing significance and formulating policies. The Group’s key
stakeholders include shareholders, government and regulatory
authorities, employees, customers, suppliers, the community and
the general public. The Group conducted surveys and discussed or
communicated with stakeholders to understand their views, respond
to their needs and expectations, assess and prioritise their opinions
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on improving the Group's performance and ultimately strive to create

value for stakeholders.

Stakeholders

Expectations and demands
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Communication and response

BHE BB EEFR EimEEE e
Shareholders e Financial results e Enhancing profitability
e Corporate transparency e Daily information disclosure
e Improving risk control e Optimising risk management and
internal control
&5 o MISEE o REANRES
. m%ﬁ%ﬁ e HEEEEE
o uEAMRIES o BILEREIERAIBEE
Governments and regulators e Comphance with laws and regulations e Operation compliance
e Paying taxes according to laws e Paying taxes on time and in full
T B BB M o AL o ARKE
o TR o IR T EEAAT
Employees e Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
e Compensation and benefits e Competitive compensation and
e Safe working environment employee benefits
e Providing training for employees to
enhance their safety awareness
(== e BXIRERTA o EFHHH
o FrBHTER o HEFHMHHIFE TR
o ZRTIEIRE o RIESEMHET - REELEYHEH
Customers e Customer information security e Protection of customer privacy
e Protection of customer rights and e Marketing compliance
interests e Provision of reliable products and
e Good service guarantee services
5P s EFERLE o REEFILE
o BPEmIRME o S
o RIFHIRIEIRIZ o R SEAVE m MRS
Suppliers e Integrity in cooperation e Creating a responsible supply chain
e Business ethics and reputation e Fulfillment of contracts in accordance
with laws
HrEm o WIEAIE o ITHEBEENHERE
o WEBRESE o FEBITAR
Community and public e Greenness and environmental protectione  Use of environmentally-friendly and
e Employment opportunities energy-saving equipment
e Provision of employment opportunities
A=YV YN o FEIRR o (HRRRENEERE
o TREMKS o TR ERLL
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In FY2025, the Group conducted materiality assessments
on a number of ESG issues to identify the issues of greatest
importance to the Group’s businesses and of greatest concern to
its stakeholders. The assessments help the Group ensure that its
business development meets the expectations and requirements
of its stakeholders. The Group has identified 24 ESG issues covering
environmental, social and operational areas and invited internal
and external stakeholders to assess the importance of ESG issues
through scoring tools and interviews. The management of the Group
has reviewed the materiality level of ESG issues and subsequently
disclosed the results in this report. The outcomes of the materiality
assessments prioritise the views of stakeholders and focus the
Group on the key aspects of its actions, achievements and reporting.

The issues identified and prioritised by the Company based on its
communication with stakeholders are shown as follows:
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continuea)

Environmental practices

RIRER

56

Greenhouse gas emissions
BE RN

Energy consumption
sERERE

Water consumption

FEKkE

Waste

REZEY)

Environmental impact arising
from business operation
FBERIRRTE
Green Building Certification
AR EERE

Customer engagement on
environmental issues
RIEEENE P28

Use of chemicals
EREm

Social

He

10.

11.

12.

14.

15.

16.

Local community engagement
it e

Community investment
HEIE

Occupational health and safety
BEREREZE

Supply chain labour standards
fHpEgE 45 T R

. Training and development

Bl RER

Employee benefits

EERA

Inclusion and equal opportunities
HpkTFEge

Attracting and retaining talent
S| R®BEBAS

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025

ER e )

Operational practices
EEEE

17.

18.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

Economic value generated
EENLEEE
Corporate governance
TEER

. Anti-corruption

RES

Supply chain management
HAEEER

Customer satisfaction
EPWEE

Customer privacy
BEPALE

Intellectual property protection
A ERERE

Marketing and labelling
EIHEIRE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (5%

ENVIRONMENTAL AREA
Emissions and Pollutants

The environmental pollutants produced by the Group in
FY2024 mainly included wastewater, gases, hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste, and the environmental pollutants
produced by the Group in FY2025 mainly included gases and
non-hazardous waste.

Wastewater discharge and related measures

The wastewater produced by the Group is mainly industrial
wastewater and domestic wastewater. Industrial wastewater
includes wastewater from car wash, car repair and
maintenance and water for equipment cleaning. Domestic
wastewater mainly refers to the wastewater produced in
offices.

Gas emissions and related measures

The gases produced by the Group are mainly odour and
paint mist from paint spraying and exhaust emissions from
vehicle repair and maintenance. The relevant procedures are
conducted in spray booths or designated compartments in
workshops. During paint spraying, the doors of a spray booth
are closed tightly to avoid leakage of odour and paint mist.
The spray booths and designated compartments are installed
with air pollution control facilities including paint mist filtration
facilities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continued)
Gas emissions and related measures (Continued)

g

The environmental KPIs for the Group’s emissions in FY2025

are set out in the table below:

RERER

Environmental KPIs

IRIBEIE (2)
B R S53Y) (&)
SEE P R R AR G ()

R2025FF - NEEG R ORRRIRIRS
MIERRIIN T

Air emissions (Note 1) BERBERR (F5E1)
Nitrogen oxide (NO,) emissions AEALY) (NO,) BEIL
Sulphur oxide (SO,) emissions e by (SO, BER
Particulate matter (PM) emissions ALY (PM) HEIR

Note 1: The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not
generate any emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur
oxides (SO,) and suspended particulate matters (PM) from

the combustion of vehicle fuels.

The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not set

quantitative targets for air emissions.

The Group's electricity consumption is a major part of its
greenhouse gas emissions. The environmental KPIs for the
Group's greenhouse gas emissions in FY2025 are set out in

the table below:
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FY2025 FY2024

2025 & 2024 FEE

Kg T3 N/A T iE A N/A T iE A
Kg T3 N/A T iE A N/A TiE A
Kg 52 N/A i N/A i

FisE 1 AEERAERAE - g AR
BB G E S ALY
(NO,) - B4 (S0,) BSEITH T (PM) Bt
e -

AEBRAERRE IS AREER
BEREELBIR

AEBZENEREHAEREHNMNT
ZED - R2025FE - NEEREREHE
TRH) RS IR IR A U IR E TN T



Environmental, Social and Governance Report &35 + SR ERHRE

A.  ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continuea) A, IRIBEE &)
A.1 Emissions and Pollutants (continuea) A1 BERRSRY (&)
Gas emissions and related measures (Continuead) REHRRBRER (Z)
Environmental KPIs RIGER ' FY2025  FY2024®cted
2025 FFE 2024 FE HED
Greenhouse gas BERBEHER (H5E1)
emissions (Note 1)
Direct emissions (Scope 7) BRI (#E 1) Kg of CO, equivalent N/A TNEF N/A @
Fr= %{ bikE &
Indirect emissions 3737 Kg of CO, equivalent 2,785.68 19,842.17
(Scope 2) (Note 2) (#/22) (Mf5E2) Fr-—@/tikEE
Other indirect emissions E s genk (#E3) Kg of CO, equivalent 9,312.00 1,785.84
(Scope 3) Fr-@/tikEE
Total greenhouse gas RERENBE Kg of CO, equivalent 12,097.68 21,628.01
emissions Fr= %{t REE
Greenhouse gas emission BEREHNEE Kg of CO, equivalent 483.91 514.95
intensity per employee
Fr-—@/tikEE
BEEAH
Note 1: Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and their BzE : ,Mi* R (E i ) MERER AT
reductions can be divided into three separate scopes as DAEUT =B & E :

follows:

Scope 1. The Group did not use automobiles and therefore FE AEBRAFEREE  BRA
did not generate any direct greenhouse gas TAIE AR AREMEE 2B
emissions from the combustion of fuels. EREEEDN -

Scope 2. Energy indirect emissions from purchased #[E 2 : $%l;c HIH RS N T g2
electricity consumed by equipment controlled by EYMABHENELMEEER
the Group or from electricity purchased from a FEENENTEENEES
power generation company for operating within EERREREREIEN
the boundaries of physical buildings.

Scope 3: All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions HE 3 : ALBAINEERFTA E bR
occurring outside the Group, including upstream EEEEEEE B B RTF
and downstream emissions (including: (i) E’]%}FE&((@% VKGR BT
greenhouse gas emissions from the treatment of DENERBHNERERK,T5K
freshwater/wastewater with the use of electricity ﬁﬁéiﬂ’]x' EREHME &)
by the Water Supplies Department/Drainage EBEHHE) o

Services Department, respectively; and (ii)
employee travel).

Note 2: Electricity consumption emission factors in FY2024 and MiEE2 : 2024 FE [E % 2025 E EHEBHE N Z R
FY2025 are sourced from China Southern Power Grid in 2022. MR2022 BT B -

Note 3: Figures are calculated in accordance with the “Reporting MsE3  BIBE R E IR RERESIEEREIE
Guidance on Environmental KPIs”. Due to a change in S| zHE - AARTEEEFGETHEN
the emission factor used to calculate the CO, equivalent “REREESNERETFHREZS - &
associated with electricity purchased in Southern China, the 2024 F [E SIS T E 5| LATF A 2025
relevant data for FY2024 has been restated to conform to the FENBIETERN -

data calculation in FY2025.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continuead)

Gas emissions and related measures (Continued)

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
quantitative GHG emission targets for FY2026 as follows:

Environmental KPIs
EEE B Z

REER

Emission reduction target

SBIRE
A, RIBHE &)
A1 BERESS3RY (&)
SEE P R R AR G ()
BB ERAEEMNEARERLEE

BHEORKRR - NEEIRERE 2026 FE
BREREBHFHNELCRFOT

Status

Baseline year
HEXEERE

Greenhouse gas emission intensity 3% decrease by FY2026 FY2023 In progress
BERBHNEE 722026 S [E RTE A 3% 2023 [E HEATHR
The Group has developed a number of electricity-saving REEEHIELEHFEEER - UL AE -

policies to reduce electricity consumption. The Group
encourages employees to turn off lights during the day,
maintain lights and keep them clean, take stairs instead of
elevators, install energy-efficient lighting systems, and disable
standby mode when all appliances (including computers,
copiers and printers) are not in use. In summer, it makes
sure that all windows and doors are closed when an air
conditioner is on, and that the air conditioner is turned off
after work or after meetings.

The Group reminds employees to consider the environmental
impact of their commuting to reduce air emissions and
greenhouse gas emissions. For instance, it encourages
them to use the public transport system wherever possible
and to choose fuel-efficient means of transport. The Group
encourages employees to avoid unnecessary acceleration or
deceleration when they are driving, close windows at high
speeds and use air conditioning only when necessary.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continuead)

Gas emissions and related measures (Continued)

The Group recognises that employees’ business travel
generates lots of indirect greenhouse gas emissions and
requires employees to hold teleconferences rather than
overseas meetings and to choose rail travel rather than
air travel for short trips to reduce the carbon footprint of
business travel.

In accordance with the above policy, aiming to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions, the Group took the following
measures: (i) control the frequency of employees not taking
public transportation to work; and (ii) limit the number of
business trips of employees.

Hazardous waste discharge and related measures

The hazardous wastes produced by the Group in the past
were mainly organic solvents and paints generated from paint

spraying.

As these wastes are chemical wastes, they must be
handled with due care in order to avoid contamination of
soil or drainage system. The Group stores these wastes
at designated locations with walls and leak-proof floors
and disposes of these hazardous wastes according to the
statutory requirements.

Non-hazardous waste discharge and related measures

The non-hazardous wastes produced by the Group are mainly
household wastes, and an environmental policy has been
established to encourage employees to dispose of the office
waste generated in an appropriate and eco-friendly manner.
The Group has duly cleared and transported household
wastes in a timely manner to prevent contamination of
communities by smell, stink and flies.

The Group promotes waste reduction practices, including
source reduction, reuse, clean recycling, recovery and landfill.
The Group encourages employees to purchase longer-
life supplies or equipment, install recycling bins to collect
recyclable materials (such as waste paper, glass or aluminum
bottles, metals and plastics) and arrange for recyclers to
collect recyclable materials.

3
XA
il

2z Aok

IRIBEIE (2)

B R S53Y) (&)

SEE P R R AR G ()
AEEREESNEARES ABRER
EREHN YEREESFEAEESEM
IEEING S - R TIZE PR T IE T -
BURASNE A B 25T o

EEABR  RRAREREHN - A&
BEREUA T © () ZEHRE TREAKR
BTAEVIRSEE  RMNEHIREREMN L E

=
==R

BERRMGH K EBER
AEBERAEMELEZAETEREYM T EIEE
BRFTEE & 2 BRI MRk -

MRZEEEMACEEY  BAZERRE
BIRR L BEY)S R TIRKTKEMR
AEBRRBMEENZRRZE T
REFIREREY - WIRBOATE M E B IE %
EEEEEY -

BEBRRMHFBRRAAEEE
ARBELCEZREMTERRELR -
I B I RRBOR S B B B DAE B IR
M RNEIRFAEE Z W AERY - REE
BERBEWEERELR  AHLLEEE
ARK - RRLEBMSRLR -

AEBRERERR  BRENIREREE -
BAMA - BRBRMA - B HIE
RIE - AEETBEEBRESTRECH
J& fn S AR R - % 3K [ WA W R T TR SR
(InEE4t - WML - = BREH) -
b 22 B B R U SR T R ER S
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continuead)

Non-hazardous waste discharge and related measures
(Continued)

Non-hazardous waste is prioritised for recycling, otherwise
it will be sent to landfill or incineration. In accordance with
the above policy, aiming to reduce non-hazardous waste, the
Group took the following measures: (i) control of commercial
waste generated by employees; (ii) control of paper waste,
and (iii) control the amount of non-hazardous waste to be
sent directly to landfill or incineration without recycling.

The environmental KPIs for the Group’s waste discharge in
FY2025 are set out in the table below:

IRIBEIE (2)
B R S53Y) (&)
BEFEY IR AR (2)

EEEEYELOUCNA - BRI EXE
BRI - REBELABEK - BRDES
FEEY) - AEBEREUA TR : ()1EHIEE
ELMREREY - (NEHRFRORE R (i)
2 B R R SRR T 1T B
BEEERMHE

2025F - AEBEEREY T MAREEIR

BERIEREIIN T X

Environmental KPIs BRIBIEE FY2025 FY2024
2025 FE 2024 FE

Waste BEEY

Total hazardous waste FIEAEEREYRS Kg N/A 75 N/A & A
produced (Note 1) (fF3E1) T

Hazardous waste production FE4BEEEMZTE Kg per employee N/A TiE N/A & A
intensity T/ SREEAH

Non-hazardous waste FIESBREREENZE Kg 2 2,400
production intensity F5

Non-hazardous waste FEEBEREYZE Kg per employee 0.08 57.14

production intensity

Note 1: In FY2025 and FY2024, the Group generated no hazardous
waste.

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
guantitative targets for waste discharge for FY2026 as follows:

Environmental KPIs
RHE B Z

REER

Emission reduction target

T/ ESEEAK

BET 1 2025 4F & )R 2024 6% - NS EIN0 M
EREBEEY -

REMHERAEENEANZE

BIENKRR  ARERERE

BEEYPRNELCBFNT

MEER
2026 F &

Hazardous waste production intensity
by FY2026
FEXEEREMEE
BEEEEY
Non-hazardous waste production intensity
FRE4ABEREENZE
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No generation of hazardous waste FY2023
722026 FERTAEFE NEE

3% decrease by FY2026
72026 S RIEE 3%

Baseline year Status
BEEFE AR R

In progress
20235 E HEITH
FY2023 In progress
2023 E HEITH
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A.2

ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Emissions and Pollutants (continuead)

Non-hazardous waste discharge and related measures
(Continued)

In line with the above energy conservation and emission
reduction measures and compliance guidelines, the
Group strictly regulates its business operations to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection and pollutant discharge
or emissions. In FY2025, there were no serious violations of
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China and other relevant laws and regulations relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste that had a significant impact on the environment. In
addition, no big fines or sanctions were reported in FY2025
for violations of relevant laws and regulations.

Use of Resources

The Group mainly utilises electricity and water during the
course of business. Electricity is consumed through lighting
and air conditioning during production and broadcasting.
Water consumption for domestic purposes refers to office
water use.

3
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A.2

IRIBEIE (2)
B R S53Y) (&)
BEFEY IR AR (2)

e L EEERBHE R R A RIS A K
EEMRERERGNEE  AERETHE
RRFSRYBRE BB R Mt A=
FOER » 20254 @ B EBE R R(P
EARAMBERFFRE L) NAEERSOR
EREBEE - MKEIR R L HBEHOT Y
AEELHRBERBEAFZENAE ME
EERYNEMABRERIERNITS
LESN - H 2025 F E A - 3 E R ARRR A
RIERMEREAT AR EORSE -

&R fER
AEBREBBENEEEAENRK -
PR RS E B R R SRR )
EERRFAKIERAZAK -

ZREREEZRERAR —T-_AFFER 63



Environmental, Social and Governance Report I£1% - @R ERHRE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued) A RIBEE @)

A.2 Use of Resources (Continued) A2 EBERER#E)
In FY2024, the Group mainly utilised electricity and water MR2024 5 F - REEREBBIEFEEME
during the course of business. Electricity was consumed AEARK REERIEREFEKEBR
through lighting and air conditioning during advertisement AREFHEEE N £FEREFEKERA
production and broadcasting. Water consumption for EAK e MR 2025 FEAREF PN EEH
domestic purposes refers to office water use. In FY2025, the FELERK BB E2/CEBEIR

Group's offices only consumed a small amount of water and
therefore no quantitative data are available.

Environmental KPIs = i FY2025 FY2024
2025 FE 2024 £
Total energy consumption REHEDNEERE
by type #E
Consumption of purchased electricity FTiEREERNE T Kwh FE & 7,200 51,285
Gasoline consumption (Note 1) FTFERm (BEE1) Kwh FE & N/A i N/A i
Total energy consumption EREEE KwWh FE& 7,200 51,285
Energy consumption intensity R E KwWh per employee 288.00 1,221.07
FTRKE/BEEAH
Water consumption (Note 2) FeK (MiE2) Cubic metre N/A i FR 1,012
SR
Water consumption intensity (Note 2)  #KkZE (Miz2) Cubic metre per N/A TNER 24.10
employee
MAK/FREAE
Total paper used as packaging BEMHMARES Kg T7= N/A i N/A RN
materials (Note 3) (PIFE3)
Intensity of paper used as packaging BEMEFIREEE Kg per employee N/A 1NE N/A N A
materials (Note 3) (KF#E3) TR/ BEEAK
Note 1: The Group did not use automobiles and therefore did not fisE1 - AEBIRBEAAE - A8 G E A
consume any gasoline. FER M ©
Note 2: The Group's offices only consumed a small amount of water MizE2 : REERAEHN2025FEEEFELEA
in FY2025 and therefore no quantitative data are available. KBS EE(CEEEE -
Note 3: As the Group used very little paper as packaging materials B3k 3 : A B4R /9 2E o sk AR 7 B B M ) P R
for its products or services, no relevant data was collected. AR - B I R AR SR -
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A.

ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continuea)

A.2 Use of Resources (Continued)

Environmental KPIs

REER

Energy consumption intensity

In order to better manage its material issues and
environmental performance, the Group has decided to set
guantitative targets for the use of resources for FY2026 as
follows:

BRER

3
XA
il

Resource conservation target

3% decrease by FY2026

FEREmE 72026 S RIEE 3%
Water consumption intensity 3% decrease by FY2026
FKREE 7 2026 FERIETE 3%

The Group did not use packaging materials and therefore did
not set quantitative targets for the paper used as packaging
materials.

In order to effectively consume electricity and water, the
Group took the following measures to reduce consumption,
including:

o turning off idle electronic devices and switching off
lights before leaving the office and studio;

o repairing and maintaining electronic devices on
a regular basis to avoid overconsumption due to
malfunction;,

o deploying energy-efficient devices which carry energy

labels issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department; and

o advocating the temperature of 25.5 degrees Celsius in
offices and studios.

The resources used by the Group in offices involve water,
electricity and paper. The Group’s ability to use energy
efficiently can be seen from its intentions and initiatives to
reduce energy consumption. Energy consumption has a
direct impact on the Group's environmental footprint and
operating costs and causes exposure to certain risks, e.g.,
energy supply and price fluctuations. The Group’s policies and
measures for the management of energy use are described
above. The Group considers that these policies have been
adopted and measures have been taken in FY2025.

IRIBEIE (2)
ERER (&)

REFHEREARENEEENEER
B ERRIR - AN ER TE R E 2026 F 2
BREANELBZRNOT

Baseline year Status
HAESF AR A8
FY2023 In progress
2023FE HEATH
FY2023 In progress
2023 FE HEITH

AEESRAERBREMF  BWRERTE
BEMBMARNELER -

RBYFEBMFEK - AEBEIUTIIIE i
LUR A ERE - BIE

. BiEEE 2 EFRELNBEFNA
ENTIFERRBE

. EHHEMREETRENERRE
BT B HAE -

. EERAARE  ZFEREHNA
HRETIEFHHZERIEER &

. REPLAERIZILAEREBER
255/F °

AEBBRAEMAERS MK BER
FRAR o ZNERBB BN B EEIR R BE N Al LAE
BEFRKEEIRE R BB E M R A8 3R o
ERERERFEASENRERY - &
BRA R EERE TR (FI20EERHE R E
REVRE)) - ANEEEHRERE R BRI
RAMFERD E L XM - NEBR 2025 %
EERMZEFBERIL C HREUEE °
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A3
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continuea)
Use of Resources (Continued)

The Group’s ability to use water efficiently can be seen from
its intentions and initiatives to reduce water consumption.
Water consumption has a direct impact on the Group’s
environmental footprint and operating costs and causes
exposure to certain risks, e.g., reliance on water sources
that may be considered sensitive due to their relative size
or function; or the status of a system that may be rare,
threatened, or endangered; or its support for a particular
endangered plant or animal). There were no difficulties in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose for the Group in FY2025.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group, a member of the community, is proactive to
protect the environment.

The Group has established an environmental management
system which has been certified to comply with ISO14001.
The Group will distribute practical tips and information about
environmental protection to management and employees on
a regular basis to minimise the impact of the business on the
environment.

As an environmentalist, the Group adopted the following
measure to make effective use of natural resources apart
from electricity and water, including:

o reducing the use of paper and encouraging duplex
printing and reusing of single-side printed paper;

o strictly complying with relevant environmental laws
and regulations, including local laws and regulations
on environment in the PRC and Hong Kong, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Law on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s
Republic of China and the Regulations on Urban
Drainage and Sewage Treatment; and

o periodically evaluating and analysing data to manage
resource usage more effectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA (continued)
Climate Change

g

With growing public awareness of climate change, climate
change is one of the most frequently discussed topics among
companies. The Group is no exception and pays increasing
attention to the potential impact of climate change on its
businesses and operations. The Group periodically reviews
global and local government policies, regulatory updates and
market trends to identify potential climate-related risks that

may affect the Group’s business operations.

In accordance with the reporting framework developed by
the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure,
climate-related risks that may affect business are categorized
into physical risks and transition risks. Physical risks are risks
related to physical impacts of climate change which can be
driven by events such as floods and typhoons (acute risks) or
longer-term shifts in climate patterns such as sustained high
temperatures and sea level rise (chronic risks). Transition risks
are risks related to the transition to a lower-carbon economy,
which may entail policy, legal, technology, and market
changes to address mitigation and adaptation requirements

related to climate change.

Where physical or transition risks are identified that have
a material impact on the Group’s business operations,
the Group will, where necessary, develop response plans,
changing its business strategies and revising its development
plans, to mitigate the negative impact of the climate-related

risks.

Continuous efforts will be made to incorporate sustainability
practices into its business operations and prepare and
maintain sufficient resources to manage identified climate-

related risks and examine potential remedial measures.

There were no climate-related risks (including physical and
transition risks) that had a significant impact on the Group in

FY2025.

IRIBEIE (2)

RIREML
ABHREEHESTHIES SR
KB ARESEETOEEY — « K&
B RGN - AR RES Y AEE
LT SBHEEYE o REETHERN
PHREMFBARE EEEHRTES
2 BRI Y A RS EN S

FERIZAARRL

RIBRIZEREY AR RE THEAFIER
WEER AP EEBHRIRERERR
7 PR R SRR R R KRR - )RR
RAERRE(CHNMEZEETRNER -
AR RUHK R e L 5 S5 4 (R ME R ) sofs
BRRNMETHEAERERENRGE
b (g Rk PTEL - BIXE R A RERE
EREEAENAR - RS RIEE (LS
TERRBRINGEIE T B - ARSI BURR &
2 B kWi e o

2 30 P S A W 38 L B S B R L B R
SENEBLZEFTEEATER  ~5HE
7 4 B B ) SE FE 5T B - Bl an B R TS
Rig MERT#REETE - AREARBRIKA
FARRNEETZE

E

AEBBEEEAREERERMAELE
BEE WEBREFTEER FBUE
I B 8R! O SR A AR R R B K BT AT A A
HhE

R20255 K EHAEEBEEATE
RIRERERER (BEYEBREAR) -

Y

ZREREEZRERAR —T-_AFFER 67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (5%

68

SOCIAL AREA
Employment and Labour Practices

The Group advocates an employee-friendly environment with
fair and equal opportunities for all, regardless of age, gender,
race, colour, sexual orientation, disability or marital status,
in order to increase employees’ satisfaction and sense of
belonging. The Group also offers competitive remuneration
for employees and tries to provide a platform for employees
to realise their personal value.

The Group has formulated a set of comprehensive human
resources policies on employment, promotion, dismissal,
training, benefits and remuneration and updates its human
resources policies from time to time to avoid violations of
labour laws.

The Group has established human resources policies and
procedures and incorporated additional bonuses and
incentives into the remuneration system. The remuneration
of employees is determined according to the positions they
hold and adjusted with the market rate. The welfare that the
Group provides includes pension and medical insurance. The
employee handbook also highlights important information of
policies on remuneration and employee benefits including
medical insurance, termination rights, business ethics and
leaves.

Employees’ performance is evaluated in due course and
reflected in their remuneration accordingly. The Group,
which values the personal development of employees, has
established training programmes for employees to cultivate
potential future leaders.

Social activities such as annual dinner, team building and
other social events are organised for employees in order to
achieve work-life balance, reduce their stress and discomfort,
boost their morale and enhance the bonding with employees.
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B. SOCIAL AREA (continued) B. #EEkE#)
B.1 Employment and Labour Practices (continued) B.1 EBERZEIER &)

B E20253A31H  AEBZMLH - F
AR R RERBRE DN NE
RRIERIT -

The composition of the Group’s workforce by gender, age
group, geographical region and employment type as at 31
March 2025 is as follows:

FY2025

BEAEER &0 NESHRTE FY2024

Statistics on employees by category

2025

2024 £

By gender ZIERE >

- Male — 5 13 (52%) 24 (57%)

-Female — M 12 (48%) 18 (43%)
25 (100%) 42 (100%)

By age group RERAARIE S

- Under 30 years old —30BEA T 3 (12%) 7 (16%)

-30to 50 years old —30E505% 16 (64%) 20 (48%)

- Over 50 years old —50B% A E 6 (24%) 15 (36%)
25 (100%) 42 (100%)

By geographical region EH R E 5

—Mainland China — R E A 17 (68%) 26 (62%)

- Hong Kong — &5 8 (32%) 16 (38%)
25  (100%) 42 (100%)

By employment type REFELE S

- Full-time — 28 24 (96%) 34 81%)

— Part-time — FRE 1 (4%) 8  (19%)
25  (100%) 42 (100%)
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Employee turnover rate

By gender (Note 1)

SOCIAL AREA (continuea)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued)

The Group's employee turnover rate by category as at 31
March 2025 is as follows:

EERALLR

RIERIE D (HEE1)

- Male -5

- Female — 3k

By age group BERRERIE S
- Under 30 vyears old —30m A
-30to 50 years old —30&5073%

- Over 50 years old =505 A £

By geographical region
— Mainland China
- Hong Kong

70

R EE D
—hER
&R

Note 1: The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by
dividing the total number of employees leaving the Group
in that category by the total number of employees in the
corresponding category as at the end of the year.

The Group strictly regulates its business operations to ensure
compliance with national and local laws and regulations
relating to employment in the course of its operations. In
FY2025, there were no serious violations of the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Labour Law”),
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC Labour Contract Law”), the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong and other relevant
employment laws applicable to the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates. In addition, no big fines or sanctions
were reported in FY2025 for violations of relevant laws and
regulations.
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FY2025 FY2024
2025 £ 2024 £
85% 4%

50% 22%

133% 14%

25% 10%

150% 15%

53% 8%

100% 19%
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Health and Safety

Employees are crucial to the Group and maintaining
employees’ occupational health and safety is also of great
importance to the Group.

The Group adopts fire protection measures, including
providing fire-fighting equipment such as fire extinguishers
and fire detectors, and checking them regularly to prevent
any fire outbreak. Employees also participate in regular fire
drills, and smoking is prohibited in all areas.

Apart from this, as the Group is engaged in the sales of new
energy electric vehicles, it stores a variety of chemicals that
may harm safety. The Group pays more attention to storage,
handles these chemicals in a timely and appropriate manner,
and raises employees’ awareness to avoid any gas leakage,
fire or explosion due to improper storage. The Group has a
guide and tips on the use of the materials.

In FY2025, FY2024 and FY2023, the Group did not see any
work-related fatalities and injuries, and lost zero days due to
work-related injuries.

The Group strictly regulates its business operations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong to ensure compliance with
national and local laws and regulations relating to health and
safety in the course of its operations. In FY2025, there were
no serious violations of the Regulation on Work-related Injury
Insurance of the People’s Republic of China, the Rules on the
Determination of Work-related Injuries, the Law on Prevention
and Treatment of Occupational Diseases of the People’s
Republic of China, the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation, the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, as well as relevant laws and regulations relating
to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards that had a significant
impact. In addition, no big fines or sanctions were reported in
FY2025 for violations of relevant laws and regulations.
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SOCIAL AREA (continuea)
Development and Training

The Group, which values the personal development of
employees, has established training programmes for
employees to cultivate potential future leaders.

The Group encourages lifelong learning to adapt to the rapidly
changing world. Employees are encouraged for continuous
development so that they can broaden and expand their
skillset and mindset through training, grow together with the
Group and ultimately contribute to the society.

For the growth of its employees, the Group held a number
of internal and external training sessions and seminars on a
regular basis in FY2025. Those programmes focus on many
aspects, including but not limited to finance, accounting,
corporate governance and others directly related to the
business of the Group. More importantly, the trainings focus
on improving the employees’ knowledge, skills and attitude.
The Group reserves a training fund for Directors and all levels
of employees and reviews annually if the fund is sufficient.

It provides counselling and on-the-job training to assist new
hires in familiarising themselves with the Group. Annual
assessments on employees allow the Group and employees
to review where performance can be enhanced or improved
afterwards.
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B. SOCIAL AREA (continuea) B. #H=#HE®)
B.3 Development and Training (continued) B.3 EEEEZI (&)
The percentages of employees trained in FY2025 are as R2025%E  ZIIEEE LT :
follows:
By employee category RESERE S FY2025 FY2024
2025 & 2024 £
Percentage of employees trained (Note 1)  SFllEE B D (FisE1) 96% 81%
By gender (Note 2) RIS D (H3E2)
- Male -5k 50% 47%
- Female — M 50% 53%
By employee category (Note 2) ZEEFRE S (MFE2)
- Senior —= 21% 33%
— Middle —H 38% 29%
— Junior — & 41% 38%
Note 1: The percentage of employees trained is calculated by MiEE1 - XIMEEM B S LIRS MNEIIER A
dividing the number of employees trained by the number of HHRUNFEREB AEGTE -
employees as at the end of the year.
Note 2: The percentage of employees trained by category is BfisE2 - R RIE D M ZE B 5T T iRZ 85|
calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in ZilE B ANEBRAZNEIE B ABGT
that category by the number of employees trained. o
The Group provides in-house training and development REBP R REEII R BERERRIE - R
programmes to enhance the skills and knowledge of its FEE 2R - R2025FERN - &
employees. During FY2025, all Directors participated in REFRBMEERENEAMK HE2M
continuing professional development activities by reading HERGEERE AN RN RE
regulatory updates and/or attending seminars or workshops DERSERERREY -
related to businesses or Directors’ responsibilities.
Information on the average training hours completed per BRI RERENESSNEREET
employee by gender and employee category is considered MEZ N TR EERER AL TEX -
immaterial and is therefore not covered in this report. A by 7N 2 45 N iR 2 o
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of any person
under the legal working age or without any identification
documents. In the recruitment process, the human
resources department will request candidates to present
valid identification documents. Other than that, the human
resources department will check the information to be
provided. The Group has strictly obeyed relevant local laws on
equal employment opportunities. The Group signs mutually
agreed labour contracts with all employees.

The Group has established an anonymous whistling-blowing
system to encourage employees to blow the whistle if
they are forced to do against their will or under threat of
punishment. Through such system, the Group could become
more transparent and fair.

In FY2025, no labour disputes occurred between the
Company and employees. The Group strictly regulates its
business operations to ensure compliance with national and
local laws and regulations relating to labour standards in the
course of its operations. In FY2025, there were no serious
violations of the PRC Labour Law, the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour, the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour that
had a significant impact. In addition, no big fines or sanctions
were reported in FY2025 for violations of relevant laws and
regulations.
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Supply Chain Management

g

The Group values every stakeholder, especially suppliers, as

it could provide a profound impact on businesses.

The Group believes that maintaining a good relationship with
suppliers could bring a competitive edge, enhance the quality
of services brought to customers and ultimately create better
results. In FY2025, the Group's suppliers remained stable and
steadily rendered services and materials to the Group. The
Group believes that these suppliers could maintain long-term
business relationships and ensure economic benefits and

legitimate rights and interests of both parties.

The Group requires suppliers to provide the Group with the
latest quality, health and safety standards for its products
and services to ensure compliance with environmental laws
and regulations and labour standards. Contracts for the
procurement of products and services must be based solely
on specifications, quality, service, pricing, tendering and

applicable environmental and social considerations.

The Group requires impartiality in the selection of suppliers
and service providers, maximum competitiveness in the
tender process, approval of contract terms, compliance
with laws and regulations, prevention and detection of
bribery or fraud in the tender and procurement process, and
improvement of procurement efficiency and reduction of

Costs.

In FY2025, the Group was not aware of any material
actual and potential adverse impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour practices
by any of its major suppliers, nor was it aware of any

irregularities on any human rights-related matters.

The number of suppliers by geographical region in FY2025 is

as follows:
By employee category ZEEERE S
Mainland China HR B A D,
Hong Kong BA

HEEHE 2)
HEEERE

AEEERBEFENE  Br2HER
REAHEGTRRELE -
AEBEREERBEAERRITBERESK
BHEEY RenEPRHERFEIER
WM AIEEAE - 20255 % - AEEHE
BERRE - TREM A AN S B RHERS
Bt AEEBEZFHERAERR
HRBRE  UREREEMNSZAREDS
TERER R Flk o

AEBERHEEAEFAAEEEHERRZR
BZRMEE BEERZEEE  BRE
BRBERNAR RS TER - ATHKRE
Em MR HAMEZERSRS B8 -
R% - EE BRIMEANRENLEE

RER B T PR R S AR TS R (S 44
AR BEAREEERFEFOZFE -
EREDER  BTERRNER  BLER
R RIS SRR R VBRI SRR T /S
IR FHERRE AR R SR & A ©

R2025FF - AEBEHAMBEMEEZH
EEEEEER RBR ABRBEIER
EREMEABRLBEETNEE  HT

METAREE A AEREETOTA
BEM

R20255F F - R IR 5 8 0 H L FE R 2K
(N

FY2025 FY2024
2025 £ 2024 &
6 6

3 3
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Product Responsibility

The Group attaches great importance to the quality of
services and the loyalty of customers and business partners.
Customers are the top priority of the Group, which places
emphasis on their service experience and its after-sales
service.

The Group has established and launched a customer
communication system that enables customers to give
feedback and allows the Group to gather, handle and analyse
the feedback. The Group will then be able to make better
responses to meet the needs and expectations of customers,
thereby retaining loyal customers.

Moreover, the Group collects customers’ personal information
and has access to data about services. Therefore, the Group
has established an information management system to
provide guidance to employees on the maintenance and
use of data and restrict the access or use where necessary
to protect the interests of the Group. Data is classified into
discloseable, internal and restricted/confidential data. The
Group keeps customer information centrally and destroys it
on a timely basis with due care, in order to protect consumer
data and privacy.

The Group values the protection of intellectual property
rights and complies with all applicable legal requirements
prohibiting infringement of intellectual property rights.

Although the Group guarantees the quality of its services
and products, the Group requires compensation for services
and products with quality, safety or health problems in
accordance with the terms of contracts on services and
products. The Group requires a consistent approach and
procedure to compensate all affected customers.

As for its trading business, the Group has established a return
policy whereby customers can complain to the person in
charge of sales and, with the approval of the management,
return products with minor quality defects. Customers can
lodge complaints through the social media channels for the
Group's trading business and after-sales service staff will
respond to customer inquiries and take follow-up actions on
a regular basis.
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

During FY2025, the Group did not recall any of its services
or products for health and safety reasons, nor did it receive
any complaints from customers regarding the quality of its
services or products.

In FY2025, the Group was not aware of any serious violations
of the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance relating to privacy
matters relating to products and services provided by
the Group that had a significant impact, and any serious
violations of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance, the Copyright
Ordinance, the Prevention of Copyright Piracy Ordinance and
other applicable laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided by the Group and methods of
redress that had a significant impact.

Anti-corruption
Anti-corruption and Money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity and justice.
The management of the Group established the code of
conduct and its employees must strictly obey the code in
their daily duties. Rules and regulations are communicated to
employees from time to time. The Group expects employees
to abide by laws, uphold their principles and resist any
temptation of interests, in order to avoid corruption and
money laundering.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of
the Company who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company had any interest in any of the top five
customers and the top five suppliers of the Group.
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SOCIAL AREA (continued)
Anti-corruption (continued)

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Group encourages employees, customers, suppliers
or others to report activities involving conflicts of interest,
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. The Group
has a whistle-blowing policy where a complaint channel was
established for employees or others to confidentially and/or
anonymously report any actual or suspected misconduct in
relation to the Group.

In FY2025, the Group offered anti-corruption education and
training materials to its Directors and employees to raise their
awareness of ethics and corruption.

The Group strictly regulates its business operations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong to ensure compliance with
national and local laws and regulations on anti-corruption in
the course of its operations. In FY2025, there were no serious
violations of the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong and relevant laws and regulations relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that had
a significant impact. In addition, no big fines or sanctions
have been reported by the Group in FY2025 for violations of
relevant laws and regulations.

Community Investment
Community Engagement

The Group values the communities where it operates
and takes its responsibility for promoting the sustainable
development and building a harmonious society. The Group
plans to make different kinds of contributions including
donations and charities. An assessment will be conducted
on how to integrate business activities with the interests
of communities. Furthermore, the Group is committed to
providing employment opportunities for locals and promote
the economic development of the community.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
EREREREZERERAR

(Incorporated in Bermuada with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Jiading
International Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 183, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$64,777,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at 31
March 2025, the Group had current liabilities of approximately
HK$35,039,000, but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$111,000. Besides, the Group had a net operating
cash outflow of approximately HK$18,724,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Trade receivable and prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Refer to Notes 22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the impairment and estimation for expected
credit loss allowance (“ECL") for trade receivable and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables. This estimation is significant to our
audit because the balance of trade receivables and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables of HK$28,553,000 and HK$68,850,000,
respectively are material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group's estimation involves application of judgement
and is based on assumptions and estimates.
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Our audit procedures, where applicable, included, among others:

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history
with the customers;

- Assessing ageing of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers and debtors;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers and
debtors;

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment and ECL
assessment;

- Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of
the external valuer engaged by client;

- Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with
the external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to
support significant judgments and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

- Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence,

- Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s estimation for expected credit loss
allowance for trade receivable and prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the Company's
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report ¥& 3 1% 2 el ¥R &

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report ¥& 3 1% 2 el ¥R &

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA'S website at:
https.//www.hkicpa.org hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07374
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
metEmkHEMEHE RS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Revenue N 8 88,284 112,671
Cost of goods sold and service rendered = &7 & MIRH RIS A (85,046) (88,178)
Gross profit EF 3,238 24,493
Other income E A A 9 2,725 980
Other gain H e 10 - 916
Distribution costs 7 SRR (708) (397)
Administrative expenses GG (33,971) (32,868)
Impairment loss on goodwill PRI EE R 19 (3,255) -
Impairment loss on intangible assets mEERERE 20 (1,923) -
Impairment loss on inventories GFEREEE 12 (6,386) -
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 SRR EEE 6(b) (11,049) (4,577)
Impairment loss on prepayments, TERNFEIE « e RHA YK
deposits and other receivables HREBE 6(b) (12,175) (2,237)
Finance costs BhE AR 11 (2,041) (1,860)
Loss before income tax MRATSBiATES 1B 12 (65,545) (15,550)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEse,” (F) 14 768 (555)
Loss for the year FEBR (64,777) (16,105)
Other comprehensive BREgEMEEkKE (%)
income/(expense) after tax:
Items that may be reclassified to AJGEEH R B o B -
profit or 10ss:
Exchange differences on translating BEGINETSEE 2B H =58
foreign operations 88 (1,403)
Reclassification of foreign currency HEFRRIINERE FEE S
translation reserve upon disposal of Bak |
subsidiaries - 3,752
Other comprehensive FEHEMSERE » MBRHE
income for the year, net of tax 88 2,349
Total comprehensive expense FALHEHBAXAE
for the year (64,689) (13,756)
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consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Incomes 4r&a Bz Ei 2 E IR T

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-ERE —E
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b FHET FHT
(Loss)/profit for the year UTALTEGEEE (BEB) &
attributable to: F
owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZE N (60,743) (21,094)
Non-controlling interests eI (4,034) 4,989
(64,777) (16,105)
Total comprehensive UTATEEFE2E (%)
(expense)/income for the year SRS AR -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRARERA (60,640) (18,635)
Non-controlling interests SRR AE (4,049) 4,879
(64,689) (13,756)
(restated)
(ES))
Basic and diluted loss per share BRERREEEIE GBl)
(HK cents) 15 (25.16) (20.77)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R R

At31 March2025s RZZ - FE=A=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BosE TR T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e YN 17 397 2,272
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 928 5,677
Goodwill EES 19 - 3,255
Intangible assets BAE 20 - 2,299
1,325 13,503
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 21 - 15,728
Trade receivables =) &S] 22 28,553 41,577
Prepayments, deposits and other TEFUE - e RE A EUGR
receivables 18 23 68,850 82,474
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY 24 111 6,725
97,514 146,504
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables SN FIE 25 8,196 11,166
Other payables and accruals H e IE K ERHE R 26 20,035 23,036
Contract liabilities AHEaE 27 - 268
Borrowings BE 28 5,770 11,294
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 983 2,802
Bond and interest payable EREHRFE 30 - 700
Promissory note L RR 31 - 4,138
Current tax liabilities BIHATRIE B & 55 570
35,039 53,974
Net current assets REBEEFHE 62,475 92,530
Total assets less current liabilities RAEERABERS 63,800 106,033
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4r & Bf 5k 7 3%

At31 March2025s RZZ - FE=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RF —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 - 2,764
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBRE 32 - 544
- 3,308
Net assets EEFE 63,800 102,725
Capital and reserves BARF#EE
Share capital &N 33 37 7,337
Reserves et 39 58,369 85,945
Equity attributable to owners of the Z&4Q B#HE AELER
Company 58,406 93,282
Non-controlling interests IR AE R 5,394 9,443
Total equity FERAARE 63,800 102,725

The consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to 183 were FE8AE 1B EMEAMEHREBAEZTIN -
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 —HFNA=+BIERFE#EET » WA TAL

June 2025 and signed on its behalf by: ReESE:
Chan Tat Lin Shin Ho Chuen
BRESF Bk
Director Director
EF EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEagEk

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

Attributable to Owners of the Company

KAERARR
Share-based Non-
Share Share Merger  Exchange  payments Accumulated Controlling
capital ~ premium reserve  resenve reserve losses Total  interests
HRHAER
Be  REGEE KRR ENRE  ofRRE  EiEE gt FERER
HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000
T AT B 7 AL AL Thn T
) ) (Noted)
(Hzxd)
At 31 March 2023 W-BZZEZR=1-A 6,114 657,262 13107 [3697) 03 (594,365) 18857 - 18857
(oss)prot for the year £N(ER) /MJ - - - - - 2109 9 (16109

Other comprenensive (expense)/income 22 (%) hd
- Exchangs differences on tranglation -RER SRR ELE

0fforeign operations g - - - (1299 - - (1299 (110 (1403
- Reclassficaton ofreserve upon -HEFRARENARER
(lisposal of subsilaries - - - 3752 - - 37 - 3752
Total comprehensive income/(expense)  FAZENE /(%) 4%
for the year - - - 245 - (21,09) (18,635 4879 (13,756)
Placing ofnew shares (note 33(1) RERD (HE330) 123 B35 - - - - 30568 - 30568
Transaction costs incurred in comectionwith - SEERAES 285504
placing of shares - (694) - - - - (694 - (694)
Acquistion of a subsicary WB-HTAA - - - - - - - 4564 1564
Share-hased payments WD BAR - - - - 318 - 318 - 318
(1 R - - 3186 - B W T
At 31 March 2024 H-E-RE=A=t-A I 5 VA (/A 1 CY) LT R Y/
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - (60743 (60,743) (0038 (64770)
Oher comprenensive incomerexpense) — Ef2ENE/ (Bx)
- Exchangs differences on ransltion -BERIEBET RS
0f oreign operatons 2% - - - 103 - - 103 (15) 88
Total comprehensive income/(expense)  EE2ELE/ (%) 4
for the year - - - 103 - (60743) (60,640) (4,049) (64,689)
Captal eorganizaton note 33) ERE (M 330) (7,327) 130 - - - - - - -
Rights sse (note 33() R (M 330) 7 04 - - - - 251 - nsn
Transaction costs icurred incomection— SEERES 2RARE
With rights issue - (1,748) - - - - (1,748) - (1,748)
Forfeiture of share optons e - - - - (1070 1,070 - - -
730 3308 - - (070 1070 25764 - B
At 31 March 2025 W-§-3f=f=1-A 4] 118.977* 13107 (1,135)¢ 25524 (675,130)* 58,406 5,394 63,800
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$58,369,000 (2024: HK$85,945,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued, less share
issue expenses. Pursuant to the Companies Act of Bermuda, the
Company’s share premium account may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired and
the nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in exchange
thereof pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 20 March 2001 as
set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 March 2001. The
subsidiary was disposed during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

ZERBREREAUBARNRANZGEERHE
58,369,000/8 7T (ZZ Z 4 : 85,945,000/#7T) °

Rty BRI S FIREBARREETRNE
ENSRBERERNETER - RE(BREAQF
E) - AR BRI R B R A AR AL AR 9 Y
ADE °

REEZ EHREERMEEF AR ZRAmHER
AR RBBEMREALR AR/ —TT—F=
At RBZHAREREMHEAEER -T2 —F
ZA-tHzEAMBETZROEERERZ =
B ZTRAEBEREBZE-_ZE-_—F=A=+—H
LFEFEHRE -

REBNE L FHERRBRRBERBAINEBO
BRERMELNMABINEEZR - FiRRIBSFAM
MR 4TS 2 S5 BERRRE -

A AERONREFEERTARERENE
BRafbrt RITEBERERBNATE  REHZESE
TSR M S A B AR SR A DA R AT A
HEERAREY & 5 BOR TR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

.vT\ EE@/)ILE%:Z

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

2025
—E-HEF

HK$’000
TR

2024
—TEF
HK$'000
T

cash flows from operating activities K& EZHNHRLHRE
Loss before income tax FRET1S T RIEE (65,545) (15,550)
Adjustments for: AT IR -
Finance costs BhE AR 2,041 1,860
Interest income FLEWA (2,714) (485)
Depreciation e 3,023 2,241
Amortisation of intangible assets BB E 328 280
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFAEKE - (916)
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 3,255 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets EmEEEREEE 1,923 -
Impairment loss on inventories GFEREEE 6,386 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables 5 W FIBEREEE 11,049 4,577
Impairment loss on prepayments, deposits ~ TEfIFIE - & R H A EWFIERIE
and other receivables [E518 12,175 2,237
Equity-settled share-based payments DAEREH RN BER 2R - 3,186
Loss on termination of leases AL EEE 31 -
Operating cash flow before working EEESEMRI K ERERE
capital changes (28,048) (2,570)
Change in inventories FEZ 9,342 3,712
Change in trade receivables %S%FEH& ELcy 1,975 (2,842)
Change in prepayments, deposits and SELDE T %&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ& =p
other receivables 4,536 (36,998)
Change in trade payables B N RIAE (2,970) 8,056
Change in other payables and accruals EAbfER S IE&FE.#;%‘?H% ''''''' %) (3,001) 727
Change in contract liabilities ERaEZD (268) (9,425)
Cash used in operations LA S (18,434) (39,340)
Income tax paid BRETEH (290) (328)
Net cash used in operating activities &E&;EEFFABE S FEHE (18,724) (39,668)
cash flows from investing activities RETBHHEBRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB Y3 - #e2 KR & (643) (1,834)
Purchase of intangible assets BERFEE = (152)
Net cash inflow arising from acquisition of W T ARIFIEAZE S RAFEE
subsidiaries - 3,670
Net cash inflow arising from disposal HEFRRIMEA RS RN FEE
of subsidiaries - 3,326
Interest received EHFIE 1,500 18
Repayment of promissory note B =R (4,384) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from REES (FTA) FSRLFH
investing activities (3,527) 5,028
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

Cash flows from financing activities

METDRERSRE

2025
—E-HEF

HK$’000
TR

2024
—TEF
HK$'000
T

Issuance of share capital BT 27,512 30,568
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 1,375 3,000
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (8,403) -
Repayments of lease liabilities ERHEAaE (2,221) (1,643)
Lease liabilities interest paid HEBBERHAE (176) (190)
Transaction costs in connection with BRERERD 2 XS

placing of shares (1,748) (694)
Repayment of bond and interest payable BERESFRENTE (700) (5,000)
Net cash generated from financing RETEMERSTFE

activities 15,639 26,041
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRREEEMRHD FH

equivalents (6,612) (8,599)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FURELREEEY

of the year 6,725 15,988
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, — YMEFEREE) 2 5/ 28F

net (2) (664)
cash and cash equivalents at end FRESRESEEY

of the year 111 6,725
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&RRESZEEYDIHN
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEED 111 6,725
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R ER R M

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is Room 2004B, Kai Tak Commercial Building, 317-
319 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding
and provision of advertising services. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$64,777,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025 and as at 31 March 2025, the
Group had current liabilities of approximately HK$35,039,000,
but the Group only had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$111,000. Besides, the Group had a net
operating cash outflow of approximately HK$18,724,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations for at least the next twelve
months from the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, after taking into consideration of the
followings:

(i) the Group has implemented measures to speed up
the collection of outstanding trade receivables and
loan to third parties;

(i) the Group has been actively negotiating with creditors
and lenders for renewal and extension of borrowings
which are repayable during the year ending 31 March
2025;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continuea)

(iii) the Group continues to improve the operating
efficiency by implementing measures to tighten cost
controls over various operating expenses in order to
enhance its profitability and to improve the cash flow
from its operation in future; and

(iv) the Group will actively negotiate with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to secure
new financing arrangement to meet the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements in the near
future. The Group will also actively seek opportunities
to carry out fund raising activities including but not
limited to the placing of new shares or rights issue as
alternative sources of funding.

Having regard to the cash flow projection of the Group,
which are prepared assuming that the above measures are
successful, the directors are of the opinion that, in the light
of the measures taken to-date, together with the expected
results of the other measures in progress, the Group will
have sufficient funding resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financing requirements. The directors
believe that the aforementioned measures will be successful,
based on the continuous efforts by the management of the
Group.

However, should the above measures not be able to
implement successfully, the Group may not have sufficient
funds to operate as a going concern, in which case
adjustments might have to be made to reduce the carrying
values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to
reclassify the non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively, and to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

94

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its
accounting year beginning on 1 April 2024. HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards did not result in significant changes to
the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for
the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards would have
a material impact on its results of operations and financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the
use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It also requires
the directors to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the
non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Business combination and goodwiill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of
acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of
the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are
incurred and the services are received. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Business combination and goodwill continued)

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might
be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The method of measuring impairment
losses of goodwill is the same as that of other assets as
stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment losses
of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss
and are not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition for the purpose of impairment
testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.

Foreign currency translation
(@)  Functional and presentation currency

The Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
Company'’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and majority of its subsidiaries used HK$ as
their functional currency, except for the subsidiaries
operated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
which have Renminbi (“RMB") as their functional
currency. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$. All amounts have been rounded to
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

(b)  Transactions and balances in each entity’'s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from
this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Foreign currency translation (continuea)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances in each entity’'s
financial statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company's presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(if) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(ifi) All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the exchange reserve.
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4.

100

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Foreign currency translation (continuea)

(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
principal useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 25%—-33%
25%-33%

17%-20%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Leases

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Buildings Over the lease term of 2-3 years
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which is it incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Patents and software

Patents and software are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives ranged from 3 to 10 years.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuesy 4. B REGTEER (&)
Financial assets EREE

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at
fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial assets
at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost issued to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the
Group measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at
an amount equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on
that financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of
the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
eXpects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iif) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(V) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings where available

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument'’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the
loss allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the financial instrument, except in the
case of mandatory measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuesy 4. EBREFTEHE &)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) TRMEEZRE#)

Definition of default BHZER

The Group considers the following as constituting an event REEREA  LRASEERBREEEN
of default for internal credit risk management purposes LWTERERENSH  ARAESLKRRK
as historical experience indicates that the Group may not B Wem T AERE A TNEMZE K&
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the Er e A2 BIECRERA NS -

financial instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from (i) A B A B SR SN ER AROIR B 1S B B R
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely KPAFEBATKAEMBIERAEE
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without FERRERE AR CREF A E
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group); ESEmMEMERm) - %
or
(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the (i) HFERHERVERE -
counterparty.
Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that T Lot XEERE  EHRESRE
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than BEGFBBIOREELE  RIFEREEHE
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and AEBAEBEERBEREINGEZELNEZ
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging EHHBBE °

default criterion is more appropriate.

106 JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information is
taken into account in the assessment:

the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, except
for the receivables for which the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 4.
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iif) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without significant financing
components, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
The Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying
amount based on historical experience of recoveries of similar
assets. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the

Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuea)y 4. EBEREETHEE &)
Trade and other payables B RHMENRIE

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is
adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

- the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuesy 4. EBREFTEHE &)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEFEHWA &)

(Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is WA AT RERBAENL  WATIRE
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete TERBABNOEENEETER - TE K
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, AR R S G o BR 7 128 5 4 19 5 fE 26
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer TR ©

obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue HAu A

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest BT A H2 B F L 1) B2 DA B B R 30K

method. e

Employee benefits EERF

(@) Employee leave entitlements (@) FEERHER
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long BEAZHNFRBR IR RS R
service leave are recognised when they accrue to TRNEER Z A REARER - BE
employees. A provision is made for the estimated TishE B B2 E HARTIRHEARTS
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a Al =68 8 F i LK AREEAT
result of services rendered by employees up to the HErBEED -

end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity EE A =B rRE RERRBERE
leave are not recognised until the time of leave. 7T HER °
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Employee benefits (continuea)

(b)

Pension obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the Mainland China, the Mainland China based
employees of the Group participate in various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the Mainland
China under which the Group and the Mainland
China based employees are required to make
monthly contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries (subject to a
floor and cap).

The municipal and provincial governments undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all
existing and future retired Mainland China based
employees payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has
no further obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of its employees.
The assets of these plans are held separately from
those of the Group in independently administrated
funds managed by the governments.

The Group also participates in a retirement benefit
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (“MPF
Scheme”) for its eligible employees in Hong Kong.
The contributions to the MPF Scheme borne by the
Group are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages
(monthly contributions is limited to HK$1,500 for
each eligible employee) as calculated under the MPF
legislation. The assets of this MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
plans are expensed as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Employee benefits (continuea)

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payment

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest
and adjusted for the effect of non market-based vesting
conditions.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and

recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuesy 4. B REGTEER (&)
Segment reporting D EBHRE

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(if) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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4.

118

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)
Related parties (continuec)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the
Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and the
Company'’s investments in subsidiaries may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior periods. Reversal of impairment losses is recognised as
an income in profit or loss immediately.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a) Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the successful completion of the
certain measures as mentioned in note 2 to improve
its operating results and cash flows. The directors
of the Company believe that the Group will have
sufficient funds to finance its current working capital
requirements in the next twelve months from the end
of the reporting date. Details are explained in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 5.

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwiill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets, including
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets, at the end of each reporting
period in accordance with the accounting policies
as disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. In determining whether an asset
is impaired or the event previously causing the
impairment no longer exists, the management has to
assess whether an event has occurred that may affect
the asset value or such event affecting the asset
value has not been in existence. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amounts of the asset would
be determined as the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use, the calculations of
which involve the use of estimates. Owing to inherent
risk associated with estimations in the timing and
amounts of the future cash flows and fair value less
costs of disposal, the estimated recoverable amount
of the asset may be different from the amount actually
received and profit or loss could be affected by
accuracy of the estimations.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss
allowance for financial assets at amortised cost by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk
of a default and expected loss rate. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based
on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of financial assets at
amortised cost.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. Details of the estimates used to calculate
the recoverable amount are given in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6. BIiEERER

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest
rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets, including trade receivables, other
receivables and bank balances as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the end
of each reporting period.
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6.

124

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(b)

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum
credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarized as below:

0)

In respect of trade receivable and other
receivables, in order to minimise risk, the
management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations of its debtors’ financial position and
condition are performed on each and every
major debtor periodically. These evaluations
focus on the debtor’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the debtor as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the debtor
operates. The Group does not require collateral
in respect of its financial assets. Debts are
usually due between 90 and 180 days from the
date of billing.

The Group's exposure to credit risk of
trade receivable is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each debtor. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as 33% and
66% (2024 14% and 49%) of the total trade
receivable were due from the Group's largest
debtor and the five largest debtors.

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025

6.

R RER 2
(b) EERRKRBENEE)

AEEREBEEHEESEEANS
BB EREITRENG ERAEE
MEERBRER ZAEERKIK
D&ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ@uﬁ@%ﬁ
BT

i) LB 5 EUGRIA K& H e Uk
%klﬁﬁ’ﬁi C BEEREER
aﬁFﬂmEﬁﬁ RIE
% mEBEERBRSIRET
ﬁ%ﬁW‘°%E$A%$
RS RN 2 5 BRTHE 0 E
S S ETEEHAMET - %
EHERFEBABESN
BIfE s ek kBRI E
e TEREBEASTE
B RETS NS TR A
RIEZER - AEBUEES
IemEEREERAR -
EE—REEZH L0
£ 180 RMEIH] o

AEEESREFAZEE
ﬂ REBREEHBAZTH

MEE - RWEHR - B
N ,\%FE%Z/TAIE“%EZ%%
K 66% (ZF MO : 14% [
49%) RIEM AR B 2 S AE
BARRKREBHAZHRR
BAREGFE—EEEETD
R o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

The Group's customer base consists of a wide
range of clients and the trade receivables are
categorised by common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance
with the contractual terms. The Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL for trade
receivables and recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
The expected loss rate used in the provision
matrix is calculated for each category based
on actual credit loss experience over the
past three years and adjusted for current and
forward-looking factors to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the
period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s
estimate on future economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables. There
was no change in the estimation technigues or
significant assumptions made during the year.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of trade
receivables for each stage is represented
by the net carrying amount of each type of
financial assets as at the end of the reporting
periods.
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6.

126

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

(if)

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents
are limited because the counterparties are
mainly banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group adopts a risk classification approach
to manage its financial instruments portfolio
risk. Financial instruments are categorised into
the following stages by the Group:

Stage 1

Financial instruments have not experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment recognised on the
basis of 12 months expected credit losses
(12-month ECLS).

Stage 2

Financial instruments have experienced
a significant increase in credit risk since
origination and impairment is recognised on
the basis of lifetime expected credit losses
(Lifetime ECLs non credit-impaired).

Stage 3

Financial instruments that are in default and
considered credit impaired (Lifetime ECLS
credit-impaired). The Group applies the new
ECL model to measure the impairment loss of
the loans and advances to customers.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 6. RS #)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) fEERRBENSE)
(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

REBEE AR

Low risk

liVE S

Watch list

BRRE

Doubtful

Loss

EES

Write-off

s

Description

i
The counterparty has a low risk of default and

does not have any past-due amounts
HFTENREBRIEE I BT mEAzE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

BERALERIBREEN  BERERHEMNE

There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

ARSI ERGHHNER - TRIBEY)
HHERARE E AR EZE LN

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired
BRBERPAZEECHREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

EEBRABBAERBRENMSEE R AE
B R EE A KB A=

A S5 B 1 PO 5 BRI T 4R 4 DA
THER

Financial assets at
amortised cost
REERATERN
SHMEE

12-month ECL

128 A BBl E B ksia
12-month ECL
1218 ATE R E k18
Lifetime ECL - not credit
impaired
THIREBEEEE - EE
BRE
Lifetime ECL — credit
impaired
THRBEEBE—EE
VEREN

Amount is written off

ikl
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIBERERE®)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERRKRBENEE)
(Continued)
2025 2024
—B_RE —EoE
Gross Gross
External Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating  credit rating lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount  allowance
MIEE WHEE 12fR52H
EEFR F BHEEER RA&®E Fiafkk &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL Tan TAL
Trade receivables — N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 56,011 27,458 58,049 16,472
EREYEE TER 2 PHRSEEER-ERENE
Other receivables ~ N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 35812 - 72407 -
Eftssa TER [ERkR NEAREEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 33,142 104 10,286 219
NER B& PHRSEEER-ERENE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 13,583 13,583 2,046 2,046
ki B LHRHBEEEE-EERE
Bank balances Baa2orabove  N/A 12-month ECL m - 6,725 -
BT Baa2sibht  TER REABREESE
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HIBKERER @)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERRKRBENEE)
(Continued)
Provision matrix - debtors’ aging BiEEE - EWRTERER
Gross carrying amount - trade receivables AR E - B B BEWRRUE
At 31 March 2025 R=-ZB-RF=A=+—H
Average Trade Loss
loss rate receivables allowance
T EEE g 5 EWIE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTERT
Current (not past due) BIER (R H) 0.34% 5,000 17
1-30 days past due #HEI1-30K 0.26% 5,000 13
91-180 days past due #HI91-180 K 0.72% 6,000 43
More than 180 days past due #1ERR:E 180K 68.44% 40,011 27,385
49.02% 56,011 27,458
At 31 March 2024 RZEZNFE=A=+—H
Average Trade Loss
loss rate receivables allowance
T EE R B S WA BEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
current (not past due) BIER (K@) 0.65% 13,402 87
1-30 days past due #HE1-30 K 0.84% 13,393 112
31-90 days past due #EI31-90 K 1.28% 3,674 47
91-180 days past due #HP91-180 K 1.33% 7,122 95
More than 180 days past due #1HIEA:E 180K 78.85% 20,458 16,131
28.38% 58,049 16,472
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIHERERE®)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERBRRBETG @)
(Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRINRERIZBHERAGTEZE
allowances that has been recognised for trade SN FIBRER 2 EERE 2 HER

receivables measured at amortised cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
PEER 1 PR 2 PEFR 3
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month - credit not - credit
ECL impaired impaired

1218 A MRS BN
BHEE RFEBR- FEEE-

EE EEEHE EERE @st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT FHET FAET

As at 1 April 2023 R-E-_=FMA—H - 16,781 - 16,781

Impairment losses recognised 2R ERE - 4,577 - 4,577

Disposals of subsidiaries HEFRF - (4,610) - (4,610)

Exchange difference N ER - (276) - (276)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZ_T_M5F

1 April 2024 —A=+T—Ak

—TNFEMA—R - 16,472 - 16,472

Impairment losses recognised AR ER1E - (5,918) 16,967 11,049

Transfer LR - (8,356) 8,356 -

Exchange difference EHET - - (63) (63)
As at 31 March 2025 R-IBZEHF

=H=+-H - 2,198 25,260 27,458
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. BIHERERE®)
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (b) EERBRRBETG @)
(Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss TRINRERIZBHERAGTEZH
allowance that has been recognised for other fth FEUC I R R < B R 1B S 2 98K

receivables measured at amortised cost:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
PEER 1 PR 2 PEFR 3
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month - credit not - credit
ECL impaired impaired

1218 A MRS BN
BHFE RFEBR- FEEE-

EE EEEHE EERE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT THT TAT TAT

As at 1 April 2023 R-E-_=FMA—H - 307 58,442 58,749
Impairment losses recognised 2R ERE - 185 2,052 2,237
Transfer LR - ® 9 -
Disposals of subsidiaries HEFAA] - (253) (55,255) (55,508)
Exchange difference i ZFE - (1) (3,202) (3,213)

As at 31 March 2024 and RZZTZNF

1 April 2024 =A=+—H

N=—Z—m&E/mA—H - 219 2,046 2,265
Impairment losses recognised 2 AR ER B - 88 12,087 12,175
Transfer R - (203) 203 -
Written off g - - (686) (686)
Exchange difference BEE 5 2 5E - - (67) (67)
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZB-HE

=H=+—H - 104 13,583 13,687
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 6.
(c) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash
flows, of the Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 March 2025

R ER &)

(c) ABELEE
REBMNTE S ST ATE
R BN ES: - UHRE RS 2
WHI S B IR S AR B0
RENEESL o

ENEEESBEERFBRER
FHOHHASHMT -

R-B-HF=HA=+—H

Total

contractual
Within 1 to undiscounted Carrying
Ondemand  Within 1 year 2years Over2years  cashflow amount

ERRRE
REXEE —£R -ERE BARE RERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén Téx T T T
Tradle payables BHEMTE 8,196 - - - 8,196 8,19
Other payables and accruals B EAZERETER 20,035 - - - 20,035 20,035
Borrowings A& - 6,194 - - 6,194 5770
Lease liabilties HERE - 1,005 - - 1,005 983
28,231 7199 - - 35,430 34,984
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6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (continuea)
As at 31 March 2024

6.

R RER 2
(c) REBELERR &)
RZE-_NMF=A=+—H

Total

contractual
Within 1 to undiscounted Carrying
Ondemand  Within 1 year 2years  QOver?2years cash flow amount
R —EfE HEmE B HEfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR i T Thn B
Trade payables BARMTE 11,166 - - - 11,166 11,166
Other payables and accruals At ENTERESER 2,501 - - - 2501 22,501
Borrowings fAE - 11,965 - - 11965 1129
Lease liabilties HERE - 3017 209 759 5869 5,966
Bond and nterest payable ERERRHE - 700 - - 700 700
Prommissory note FHEE - 4347 - - 4347 4138
33,667 20,029 209 759 56,548 55,365

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant variable interest-
bearing financial assets and liabilities, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rate. The
Group adopts centralised treasury policies in cash and
financial management and focuses on reducing the
Group’s overall interest expenses. The directors are of
the opinion that the Group’s sensitivity to the change
in interest rate is low.

(d) F=RER

MR ASEYESNIEEREE
RAE  MAKREZRAREER
ERERHETITHEMNREHT
- AEEERLVBKEERTA
RSP PEHE AR A
SEERBMNERAX EERR A
SEHNEEE 7 BRERE
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6.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 6. HIBKERER @)
(e) Categories of financial instruments at () R=A=+—HHWEMIA
31 March k]|
2025 2024
—E_RF —E PO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Financial assets: SREE :
Financial assets at amortised LR AT ENSREE
cost (including cash and cash (BREASERSEEY)
equivalents) 87,030 97,455
Financial liabilities: c@mas:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost IZE KA EH SR B E 34,984 55,365
()  Fair values  2RE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets (RE B TGARR R AR R R ) A R [ i
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated BENAGTENCcREERSRA
statement of financial position approximate their ERAEEIUNSENARE -

respective fair values.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purpose, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
four (2024 five) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Sales of health products: supplier of health
supplement and equipment in the RPC;

(b) Sales of new energy off-road vehicles: sales of new
energy off-road vehicles in the PRC;

(c) Sales of new energy batteries: supplier of graphene
battery fast-charging solutions and a smart
manufacturer of alkene carbon composite material
batteries; and

(d) Advertising: provision of advertising services in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit
or loss before income tax. The adjusted profit or loss before
income tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
or loss before income tax except that bank interest income,
finance costs as well as head office and corporate expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude corporate and unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, corporate
and unallocated liabilities.

7.

£

5 EER
SEEBMME  ANEERE MRS S
DEBEN - DRATH(ZT-NEF: F)
FREET VR

@ EamiEeE  EPBEHEERER R
G

K o

(b)  FEERIEER TEHEE £ B
EHREIRIFER T

© HEREAHEE: HREHEEHBRE
REHRTT REERE L IBHAEE M
HELESEELE &

) EE:REERTEREHESRE -

EREERERARBEKEN T 2 KE
DHER BB ERD B M RIRFE 2 REK -
DESR IR AIERT B HBIRAMEHATE
w2 Al 2|0 MBS AT o KRAEBR
PISHATER 2T EN NEAREERME
il 2 st ET N — 2 HIRTTH B
A BERARIA R B ERE R ERAY
TEREZETEZA -

DEHEETBRERMADEEE -

DHMEABTERELCHERARE XK

EREREEERERAT —T-_RFFHR 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REZIER @)
(Continued)
(@) Segment Results (a) EpEE
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-HEE=ZA=+—HLHE
B

Sales of
new  Sales of
Sales of energy new
health  off-road energy Sales of
products  vehicles batteries Advertising  vehicles Total

HENER HENER
HERRR FERAE Bt RE  HERE act
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FER TR ThL TEL FTER FER

Segment revenue DA
Sales to external customers & FHNIEF 1,626 - 2,586 84,072 - 88,284
Segment results DS (7,428)  (25792)  (16,254) (3,136) - (52,610
Reconciliation: Il
Unallocated gains A& 12
Finance costs BHENAK (77)
Corporate and other rEREMRAEAZ

unallocated expenses (12,870)

(65,545)
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REDIER @
(Continued)
(@) Segment Results (continued) () DEHEE#)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE_Z_WEF=ZA=+—HILHF
E
Sales of
new Sales of
Sales of energy new
health off-road energy Sales of
products vehicles batteries  Advertising vehicles
HEMER EENR
HERER FFBRTE &) EE  #HERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHL FET TEL BT TR
Segment revenue DA
Sales to external customers & TINDEP 33,665 10,455 2,273 66,278 - 112,671
Segment results DS 11,165 (2,324) (828) (10,800) (415) (3,202)
Reconciliation: Il
Unallocated gains A& 1,429
Finance costs BHENAK (125)
Corporate and other rEREMRAEAZ
unallocated expenses (13,652)

(15,550)
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REQIER (#)
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (b) SHEERAEE
As at 31 March 2025 R-EBE-HE=A=+—H

Sales of
new  Sales of
Sales of energy new
health  off-road energy Sales of
products  vehicles batteries Advertising  vehicles Total

HENER HENER
HERRR FERNE Eit BE  BERE @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FER FER TEL TEL FTER FER

Segment assets PHEE 90 13,557 576 83,839 - 98,062
Reconciliation: Il
Corporate and other PEREM

unallocated assets AOMEE 777
Total assets BEE 98,839
Segment liabilities AHEE - 19,933 1,263 13,151 - 34,347
Reconciliation: Il
Corporate and other EREM

unallocated liabilities AHMAE 692
Total liabilities BafE 35,039
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7.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REHIER (#)
(Continued)
(b) Segment Assets and Liabilities (continuead) (b) SWBEEREE &)

As at 31 March 2024

AR-_ZE-PUFE=A=+—H

Sales of
new Sales of
Sales of energy new
health off-road energy Sales of
products vehicles batteries  Advertising vehicles

HEMER HENER

HERBR FERAE Eitt EE  HEARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT BT AL TEL TAT
Segment assets PHEE 28,494 18,434 20,488 91,087 - 158,503
Reconciliation: i -
Corporate and other PEREM
unallocated assets KolEE 1,504
Total assets BEE 160,007
Segment liabilities PHEE 7967 15,547 5,464 27,023 - 56,001
Reconciliation: HiE -
Corporate and other PEREM
unallocated liabilities F*okaE 1,281
Total liabilities BeE 57,282
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7.

140

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Other Segment Information
For the year ended 31 March 2025

Sales of
health
products
HERRR
HK$'000
Thn
Amortisation of intangible assets /& E i 77
Depreciation of property, plant %1% + R RRERE
and equipment 439
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ EAELERE
assets 1,069
Impairment lossongoodwill  EEREESE 733
Impairment loss on intangible &R/ ERERE
assets -
Impairment loss on inventories  FER(ERE =
Impairment loss on trade E R EREEE
receivables -
Impairment loss on prepayments, BN U8 - RS R EM
deposits and other receivables  EYGERERFE 1
Additions to property, plantand  FENE - #E k%
equipment 643
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Sales of
new
energy
off-road
vehicles
HEIR
FERRE
HK$'000
TEL

563
1,115

11,241

5,035

REFEER (#)

(c) HttoHER
BE-ZE-_RF=A=+—HLHE

54

Sales of
new
energy
batteries
HEMER
Bt
HK$'000
THR
251

4

1,407

1,923
6,386

7,118

Sales of
Advertising vehicles

BE  HESRE
HK$'000  HK$'000
TiL TR

(192) =

21 =

Total
EH

HK$'000
TR

328

668

1,632
3,255

1923
6,386

11,049

12,175

643
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REDIER @
(Continued)
(c) oOther Segment Information (continued) (c) HtuoHER &)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 HE_Z-_WNF=-A=+—HLHF
E
Sales of
new Sales of
Sales of energy new
health off-road energy Sales of
products vehicles batteries  Advertising vehicles
‘ HEHR
FERAE £ EE  HERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T BT TAL BT BT
Amortisation of intangible assets /& E & ) - 254 - - 20
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% + BERRERTE
and equipment 103 3 32 184 334 656
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ ERERERE
assets 694 237 - - - 931

Impairment loss/(reversalof & BENFERE
impairment loss) on trade B/ (REER

receivables #m) - 143 (131) 4,565 - 4577
Impairment loss on BN - ke REM

prepayments, deposits and YR EREER

other receivables - 36 672 1,529 - 2,237
Additions to property, REME  BERE

plant and equipment 1733 16 72 13 - 1,834
Goodwill BE 732 1,115 1,408 - - 3,255
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REHEER 2
(Continued)
Geographical information RN EER
The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TERRUEEBEREERBINEE P HIA
revenue from external customers and non-current assets: NIERBNEE 2D -
2025 2024
—EEHF —T U
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Revenue from external customers SHEREF WA
Hong Kong B 84,072 66,278
The PRC H 4,212 46,393
88,284 112,671
2025 2024
—E_RF —E_PUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FiBT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Hong Kong BB 830 1,737
The PRC H 495 11,766
1,325 13,503
The geographical location of customers is based on the EPEMEMEBME NIRREREIRNE
location at which the services were provided or the goods mZfBE D - FERBEEMEHIEME
delivered. The geographical location of the non-current DREEZERREEMES Y  HEE
assets is based on the physical and operating location of mE - AREEESRNKEMLES D -
the assets and the location of the operation to which they ARBIARABRETIMAILEEREE
are allocated, in the case of goodwill. The Company is an N 2 B AT ©

investment holding company incorporated in Bermuda and
mainly operated in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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7. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. REDIER @
(Continued)
Information about major customers EBEXERFZER
Revenue from customers for the years ended 31 March 2025 HE_Z-_AFR-_T-_NF=RA=+—
and 2024 contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the AIEFE - ERVBIBZARSEE AW A 10% 8
Group are generated from advertising business as follow: EPWAREBESER - 5HBEQOT -
2025 2024
—E_ERF —E P
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FiBT
Customer A P A N/A 58 A * 16,000
Customer B =FB 19,500 N/ANiE A *
Customer C EFC 16,435 N/A N3 F
Customer D =FD 14,000 N/ATEF *
* The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or more * HE_ZTZ-_AFk-_ZT-_WF=A
of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 = +t—HIEFE  HEKATESRE
March 2025 and 2024. BB AFER10% A F o
8. REVENUE 8. KA
2025 2024
—E_ERF =Syt ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FBT
Revenue from contracts with EBVBREZERE 155
customers within HKFRS 15 BEEEGHBA
Sales of health products HERER 1,626 33,665
Sales of new energy off-road vehicles HEMERIEBRTE = 10,455
Sales of new energy batteries HEMBEREN 2,586 2,273
Advertising service income BE SRS A 84,072 66,278
88,284 112,671
Timing of revenue recognition LN e
At a point in time KRS 4,212 46,393
Over time BE By ] 84,072 66,278
88,284 112,671
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144

REVENUE (continued)
Advertising service income

Service income from advertising services is recognised when
the related services are delivered based on the specific terms
of the contract. The customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits when the advertisements are released
on the designated publications and online media platform.

For revenue recognised over time under HKFRS 15, provided
the outcome of the performance obligation can be reasonably
measured, the Group applies the output method (i.e. based
on the direct measurements of the value to the customer
of the goods or services transferred to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract)
to measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation because the method provides
a faithful depiction of the Group’s performance and reliable
information is available to the Group to apply the method.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the
costs incurred until such time that it can reasonably measure
the outcome of the performance obligation.

Sales of health products, new energy off-
road vehicles and new energy bhatteries

Sales of health products, new energy off-road vehicles and
new energy batteries are recognised at a point in time at
which the customer obtains the control of the promised
asset, which generally coincides with the time when the
goods are delivered and title has been passed.
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9. OTHER INCOME 9. HblkA
2024
—E_pUF
HK$'000
T
Bank interest income FRITH BHA 1 18
Loan receivable interest income JEUCE FRF B UA 2,713 467
Other income E A 11 495
2,725 980
10. OTHER GAIN 10. Hzs
2025 2024
—E-ERF —ZT D uF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) HEFAEME (5 36) - 916
11. FINANCE COSTS 11. FE AR
2025 2024
—E-hEF —EpUF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Interest on borrowings BEME 1,504 1,122
Interest on bonds BHHE - 401
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFE 176 190
Interest on promissory note RS 361 147
2,041 1,860
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12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging the

following:

12. FEERE
NEEFEFRCHIRATER 27 -

2025

—EC-hEF

HK$°000
TET

2024

—T U4
HK$'000
FHET

(a) Employee benefit expense (a) BEBAFX
(including directors’ remuneration) (BEESEM2)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMHMET 5,253 5,979
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  iRIRIEFEH 243k 402 356
Equity-settled share-based payments R A E ARG A
B 2 TR - 3,186
5,655 9,521
(b) Other items (b) HAth1EH
Auditor's remuneration 2 Gl 820 820
Amortisation of intangible assets m B EEH 328 280
Depreciation of property, plant and Vs - R LERETE
equipment 668 656
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 2,355 1,585
Impairment loss on goodwill R EEE 3,255 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREEE 1,923 -
Impairment loss on inventories GFERERE 6,386 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables 8 5 W IBERERE 11,049 4,577
Impairment loss on prepayments, TENEIE ~ e hHAMm
deposits and other receivables FEWGRIB R B &8 12,175 2,237
Loss on termination of leases TRV EESTE 31 -
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13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13. EEMeRTBRSFHNES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant BIBEGEM Em AR B R BB R RGRAE
to the GEM Listing Rules and section 383(1) of the Hong 3IMIER AR ANE 2D F (HFEEEF
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies RER BRI FEESHEOT ¢

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

Salaries, Retirement  Equity-settled
allowancesand  benefit scheme share-based
benefitsinkind  contributions payments
¢ NERLEE
=191 BHRF IR AER
ik ENFls HE [ PARE @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wik TEr TARL TERL TAR ThR
Executive Directors yEs
Mr. Mou Zhong Wei RRBEE - 240 - - 240
Mr. Li Guang Ying Frett @ - 85 4 - 89
Mr. Chan Tat Lin REELE (o) - 10 - - 10
- 335 4 - 339
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Wang Dong Mei IRt © - 32 - - 2
M. Liu Ying Yt (d) - 80 - - 80
- 112 - - 112
Independent Non-executive  BuE#7ES
Directors
Mr. Luo i Bars @) 65 - - - 65
Mr. Lui ChiKin BEELE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BERLE i 120 - - - 120
M. Li Hui Wah FBELT ® 55 - - - 55
360 - - - 360
Total Bt 360 447 4 - 811
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13. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13. EEMERERESTFIMES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) ()

Salaries, Retirement Equity-settled
allowancesand  benefit scheme share-based
Fees  benefitsinkind contributions

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fifsE BT TAL TAT BT TAT
Executive Directors YES
Mr. Mou Zhong Wei RRERE - 458 - 334 792
M. Li Guang Ying ERELE ) - 240 8 26 534
Ms. Cai Ying gEut ) - 76 - - 76
Ms. Liu Ching Man BERaT () - 120 - - 120
- 894 8 620 1522
Non-executive Directors FATES
Ms. Wang Dong Mei TRt © - 120 - 3% 454
Mr. Ye Wen Xue ExBis () - 6 - - 6
Ms. Liu Ying iy (d) - 251 - 37 578
- 377 - 661 1038
Independent Non-executive  BuE#TES
Directors
M. Luo Ji REEE ) 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lui Chi Kin AERLE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Shin Ho Chuen BEREE ] 120 - - - 120
Ms. Sun Nai Meng BEhEat 4 40 - - - 10
400 - - - 400
Total &5t 400 1271 8 1,281 2960
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13.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continuea)

Notes:
(@) Mr. Li Guang Ying was resigned on 7 August 2024.

(b) Mr. Chan Tat Lin was appointed on 28 February 2025.

(€) Ms. Wang Dong Mei was resigned on 5 July 2024.

(d) Ms. Liu Ying was appointed on 16 February 2023 and
resigned on 5 July 2024.

(e) Mr. Luo Ji was resigned on 16 October 2024.

() Mr. Shin Ho Chuen was appointed on 16 February 2023.

(2] Ms. Li Hiu Wah was appointed on 16 October 2024.

(h) Ms. Cai Ying was appointed as a Independent Non-executive
Director on 21 September 2022 and re-designated to an
Executive Director on 16 February 2023 and resigned on 25
July 2023.

(i) Ms. Liu Ching Man was appointed on 21 September 2022 and
resigned on 29 September 2023.
() Mr. Ye Wen Xue was appointed on 10 October 2022 and

resigned on 17 April 2023.

(k) Ms. Sun Nai Meng was resigned on 31 July 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2024 Nil).

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
(2024 two) director(s), details of whose remuneration are
set out above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining four (2024 three) highest paid employees, which
were individually within HK$1,000,000, are as follows:

ESMERhtReHMNES
(%)
GEX

@  FREEER-TOE A LERE -

(b) MEFEER _E-_RAF_A-+/\H
ERT -

© FRIGZETR-ZE_MF L ARABHE -

(@) BIEZTHR T =F A+ BAEE
ERR-Z-MFEARABHE

©) BEEAEN T _NF+AT/NEBHE -

6] BREREENR B _=FE_A+BE
E{f-

® FRELIN_Z_NETA+SBE
ZiE -

(h) BELULN -_T-__FHA-t+—HBE
EEABIYIFNTESE IR _T-=
FZATABACERTESE  UARR
LA +HABRT

i) EREat+tR-_ZEZ-_—#HNA=-+—H
EZARR_E-_=ZFNLA-+NLB#E
£ o

0} EYBEFN S —F+A+EES
ERR_ZE-=ZFMA++LAET-

(k) BRIVt R-_E-_=F+HA=+—8
BHT -

AEE BEERRLARBERETAHE
ZEP(ZE_EF - &) o

AEERERSFMERRE R (=T
“HF - MBRES BEZMeFEEN
EX - AREEHTEE (ZT_MOF: =)
&= ¥ e B (B & 8 % 54 171,000,000
BT ZFME BT -

2025 2024

—EHF —EpUF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind EBN R BN =S 1,608 1,495
Retirement benefit scheme contributions Lﬁiﬁaﬂ FHEIHE R 64 36
Equity-settled share-based payments PARERR 45 5 LARRD BB 2 RT3K - 424
1,672 1,955
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13.

14.

150

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continuea)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the five highest paid employees as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax

13.

14.

BNABEIE — E AR EH

EEMERERERSEFMES
(%)
HE-_E-_RER-_ZT-_NE=/F=+—
BIEFE AEEHRERTINESRKAES
EeFES XM ERBME - EAIAK
EESIRIMAREE & 2 ERN BB E -

FRS®H (%), B

2025
—E-REF

HK$°000
TR

HK$'000
THTT

Provision for the year REERE 55 -
Over-provision in prior years BT FERRERE (280) -
(225) -

Current tax — PRC Enterprise BNEREIE — R R E TSR
Income Tax - 618
Deferred tax RIETRIE (543) (63)
(768) 555

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017 (the “BIll")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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14.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continuea)

The provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at
the standard rate of 25% on the estimated assessable income
as determined in accordance with the relevant income tax
rules and regulations of the PRC.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of
operations in the PRC were qualified as “Small Low-Profit
Enterprise” for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024
and were entitled to a preferential income tax rate. From 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2027, the profits no more than
RMB3 million are taxed 5%.

Reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense
and the Group’s loss before tax at applicable tax rates is as

14.

follows:

Frig®i E®), Bix (&)

FREISRMEHRIYRETEMERMAEHA
A MR PIFFEERE 2 R R R 25% » 1R 1A
AR AGT BB -

HE_Z-_AFR_ZT-_MFE=-A=+—
Emif NEBBE R HESH TS B
BEHEENAMFCEIER TEZZER
% SHME gZT_=F—HA—H=EZ
—tF+-A=+—H THBBAARES3
E%ﬁ%mﬁ@ﬁ%@ﬁ°

RERAREAEZREH (ER) M A
REBPTEL Z FRIRATETR 2 SRR T ¢

2025 2024

—E_EHF —E PO

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FiBT

Loss before income tax FRET1S TR E (65,545) (15,550)

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate LEABEE 2 A (8,590) (3,542)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses DA T H e M2 1,098 871
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRBARIBEE

recognised Mss 2 2,922 2,169
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERUTMBERNEE L

difference not recognised %)féﬂ‘%ﬁf@ 4,175 1,057

Tax effect of one-off reduction IR 2 TS 5 & (2) -

Tax effect of tax rate at lower tax regime fﬂﬁﬁ TR (56) -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B ABRT R TR IBEE

recognised (35) -

Over-provision in prior years BT FERERE (280) -

Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSH (K%) B (768) 555
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14.

152

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continuea)

Deferred tax asset in respect of unused tax losses has not
been recognised in the consolidated financial statements
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams against
which the tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses of the
subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward for
5 years, while tax losses of the companies within the Group
operating in Hong Kong can carry forward their tax losses
indefinitely under the current tax legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unutilised
tax losses of approximately HK$76,901,000 (2024
HK$34,456,000) and deductible temporary differences
mainly related to impairment loss on trade and other
receivables amounted to approximately HK$27,458,000 (2024:
HK$16,472,000) and approximately HK$13,687,000 (2024
HK$2,265,000), respectively available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of such losses and deductible temporary difference due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams in the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. Included in the unrecognised
tax losses were losses of approximately HK$21,376,000 (2024
10,190,000) that will expire in the years of 2026 to 2030. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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Frig®i E®), Bix (&)

el 7 T £ B P RIS B 4B 2 ok SO R R AT
TR MmN R A S RENERE Y
REARBEEE EERELE - NHE
@B TATZHEEBIAERE M
RIEBITRIEAD - NEBLL Y REE
M T AT 2 B S 18 A R 45 88 -

RBEHER  AEEARBBHREBENA
76,901,000/ 7t (= Z — PO 4F : 34,456,000
BILIREES RE S K E A BB GRER
B & 18 7] F0 050 & B = 58 9 51 49 27,458,000
BT (ZZ Z P4 116,472,000/ 7T ) & %)
13,687,000 7T (= — VU4 : 2,265,000
J0) - ATAREEAREF - AREE=T
THERZZE_NF=ZA=1+—HILFE
RICSHEFRAAIIBA - R E A RFEE
RAMpEREZEERREEHRBEEE - K
e R B TE B 18 B 4 5 18 49 21,376,000 7 7T
ZZ U4 : 10,190,000587T) - R ZE
TRFE_ETFEE  HipEEA S
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15. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 15.

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company 22 1A AFE(LE1E

RRBHEEABEEREE

BREANEERRFALRD ﬂ%*ﬁ/\ﬁgﬁﬁéﬁ
BRUAB BT E B INEFOHE

2024
—FomE

HK$'000
THETT

(60,743) (21,094)

Number of shares

RBE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %7
in issue

AN 18R

2024

.= it ==
‘000

Fix
(restated)
(E31))

241,436 101,563

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
101,563,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 was adjusted
to reflect the share consolidation completed on 21 May 2024
and rights issue completed on 26 September 2024,

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the year ended 31 March
2025 and 2024 in respect of a dilution as the impact of the
convertible bonds outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect.

16. DIVIDENDS 16.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
nil).

HE-_ZT-_NFZA=Z+—HIEFENLE
BT ANFE 19 85 101,563,000 % B & -
URMAZZE_MFRA - +—HZEKDN
BHEHFER-_ZE-_MFENLA=-+/NH%
PRI fERR o

rﬁifiﬁ?ﬁ—]ﬁ‘ﬂxﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁfé%é :
E&I?ﬁiﬁ’fﬁ&féﬁ@i_? —hERZ-
“WHFE=ZA=1— EILtiEFﬁEEUZHQ
EABNSBEERHE -

HX/I_/\

EEgU MERMEBE S _AF=A
=+t BUHUBEEIMNIARE (ZE
ZPUeE ) o
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

154

4= AR

ARE MRS ERAR M T

17. W% - #BERRE

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
HENELE &R RERRE K= @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Cost A
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FMA—H 1,055 507 3,993 5,115
Additions HE 1,225 178 431 1,834
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—-HFAdH - 33 - 3
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRA (584) (139) (3,358) (4,081)
Exchange alignment BN AR 47) (14) (198) (259)
At 31 March 2024 and RZZZmE=A=+—H
1 April 2024 R=—E-mFMA—H 1,649 565 428 2,642
Additions NE - 643 - 643
Disposals HE (1,211) (751) (426) (2,388)
Exchange alignment P 5 AR (1) ) ) (6)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=+-H 437 454 - 891
Accumulated depreciation ~ RiHTERRE
and impairment
At 1 April 2023 RZE-=FWA—H 39 114 1,407 1,912
Charge for the year FARY 177 175 304 656
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRA (352) (137) (1,595) (2,084)
Exchange alignment B 5 AR 21 ) (86) (114)
At 31 March 2024 and RZBZNE=A=+—H
1 April 2024 RZFEZNFNA—H 195 145 30 370
Charge for the year FRRZ 346 255 67 668
Disposals e (303) (142) (96) (541)
Exchange differences B ESE (1) (1) (1) )
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HEF=A=+—H 237 257 - 494
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HAF=A=+—H 200 197 - 397
At 31 March 2024 R_Z_NFE=A=+—H 1,454 420 398 2272
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18.

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. HEREAREE
Disclosures of lease-related items: HERAER MR
2025 2024
—EC-EHF —ET o
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Right-of-use assets EREEE
- Buildings —BEY) 928 5,677
The maturity analysis, based on ERAEEEERERITE
undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s HeREMIHETWOT -
lease liabilities is as follows:
—Less than 1 year —LR—%F 1,005 3,017
- Between 1 and 2 years ——ZEZMFNR - 2,093
- Between 2 and 5 years —MEAFNK - 759
1,005 5,869
Year ended 31 March: BE=A=1+—RHLFE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets BB EITEMS
- Buildings —BEY) 2,355 1,585
Lease interests HEER 176 190
Expenses related to short-term leases ERGHAHEENRY 1,893 654
Total cash outflow for leases HER R RE 4,290 2,487
Right-of-use assets increased due to EAEEERWE—HFRA
acquisition of a subsidiary [yl - 1,127
Additions to right-of-use assets REFREEE - 4,516
Decreased due to lease termination E A E 42 R 2,390 -

The Group leases buildings for its operations. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of 2-3 (2024
1.5-3) years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and

conditions.

AEEREEFUETLEE - HEWZN
BEEHE—MRAE2EIFE(ZZE_MM4F : 15
E3F) o HEMRNKTVIZE R R AERERE - I
BEMERREESTHER -
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19. GOODWILL 19. BE

2024
e Sais =3
HK$'000
FAT

Reconciliation of carrying amount: EREMERIER ¢
At the beginning of the reporting period i k) 3,255 1,408
Acquisition of subsidiaries W HEF R A - 1,847
Impairment loss on goodwill PEREBE (3,255) -
At the end of the reporting period RIEHR - 3,255

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the cash generating units (“CGUs") that are
expected to benefit from that business combination. The
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

REBEHPRBOBERNRBROEE

FEHR It ZER AP ERNIRECELES
W ([ReELEMN]) BHEZEEREDY
RN -

2025
—E-REF

2024
1[5
HK$'000
TAET

HK$'000
FET

Health products RIETR - 732
New energy off-road vehicles ELIRIFERAE = 1,115
New energy batteries FraelRE M - 1,408

- 3,255

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined on
the basis of their value in use using discounted cash flow
method. The key assumptions for the discounted cash flow
method are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates
and budgeted gross margin and revenue during the period.
The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates
are based on long-term average economic growth rate of
the geographical area in which the businesses of the CGUs
operate. Budgeted gross margin and revenue are based on
past practices and expectations on market development.
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19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. BE (%)

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations AEECABEMEANEERRAT
are as follows:

New energy New
Health off-road energy
products vehicles batteries
FREIR
RiEm  FERSE RS
At 31 March 2025 R=-Z-HF
=A=+-—8
Growth rate HRE 2% 2% 2%
Pre tax discount rate FiRTALIR & 15.3% 12.9% 10.4%
At 31 March 2024 N-EBE-ME
=A=+—H
Growth rate ERE 3% 3% 3%
Pre tax discount rate BAIREIR & 17.1% 14.4% 11.8%
The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation are FREBEEFEMAXZBEAMBERER
discount rate and long-term growth rate. The management B RE - B EM AT AT ETHALR
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect REy 0 ZAERE BRI MISEHEBRRE
current market assessments of the time value of money and NazReEEBMSTERE M B
the risks specific to the CGU. The long-term growth rate is B2ETEERBAFGRIERE

estimated with reference to industry growth forecasts.
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. BEEE
Patents Software Total
E il L0 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Cost B
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMA—H 2,653 - 2,653
Additions NE - 152 152
Exchange alignment P 5 (144) (2) (146)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZE-NFE=A=+—HRK
“E-NFMA—H 2,509 150 2,659
Disposals & - (85) (85)
Exchange alignment bE 5 R (15) - (15)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-HAF=A=+-H 2,494 65 2,559
Accumulated amortisation and RitEHERAEESE
impairment losses
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=FMA—H 88 - 88
Amortisation for the year FREH 254 26 280
Exchange alignment PE 5 5 8) - 8)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-NF=A=+—HkK
“E-NFMA—H 334 26 360
Amortisation for the year FNEH 251 77 328
Disposals HE - (38) (38)
Impairment loss HEER 1,923 - 1,923
Exchange alignment bE 5 AR (14) - (14)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-AF=A=+—H 2,494 65 2,559
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2025 R-E-AF=A=+-H - - -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-NF=HA=+—H 2,175 124 2,299
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21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZEUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Finished goods 2k - 15,728
22. TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. BEZREWEIE
2025 2024
—EZHF —ET o
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables =) e 56,011 58,049
Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 6(b)) & : 1= EEBEME (M5F6()) (27,458) (16,472)
28,553 41,577
Aging analysis SRR O AT
The Group's credit terms with its customers generally range AEBRTHEFPZEEH BN TOKX
from 90 days to 180 days (2024: 90 days to 180 days). The F180XR(ZEZMHF : 90KE180K) ©
Group seeks to apply strict control over its outstanding RNEESKEAEEH EREERYIE
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise W EEEH S EER %é?ﬁ °

credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. As at the end of the reporting period,
an aging analysis of the trade receivables, net of provision
presented based on the respective dates on which revenue
was recognised, are as follows:

ﬁ,ﬁﬁmﬁﬁm%%&gﬁlﬁmﬁﬂﬁﬁ K2
HIR - B S RWIR Z BRE AT (FNRRIZIL
AR 2 HRA B 25 2 BE) T -

2025 2024

—E-RF —ET g

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within 30 days 30 KA 4,983 18,682
31-90 days 31E90K - 3,627
91-180 days 91 £ 180K 4,987 10,166
Over 180 days 180 KA = 18,583 9,102
28,553 41,577
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23.

160

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FENFUE - BRERHMEWTIE
RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

—E_RF —EPUEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE&T T

Deposits b 255 1,562
Deposits paid for acquisition of subsidiaries U¢#&F A R 2 ik d - 18,000
Prepayment paid to suppliers S FHREROTENFIE 7,556 8,868
Loan to third parties (note a) ME=FTHWER (MiTa) 57,496 36,884
Value-add-tax receivable FEBUEER 657 571
Other receivables E b U IR 11,391 12,972
Other prepaid expenses Hrarmx 5,182 5,882
82,537 84,739

Less: Allowance for credit losses (note 6(b)) & : (S EEERE (i 6(h)) (13,687) (2,265)
68,850 82,474

Notes: BEE -

(@ The amounts due are unsecured, interest bearing from 2% to (@)
6% p.a. and repayable within one year. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The loans to third
parties amounted to approximately HK$53,165,000 (2024:
HK$20,657,000) was subsequently repaid.

(b) Included in prepayment, deposits and other receivables (b)
carried an amount due from related parties of the Company
of approximately HK$382,000 (2024: HK$4,133,000). The
amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand or within one year.

R RIBAEIRT  IRFFE2%ZE 6%
AAERAR—FREE KNEBWER
DERRBEINERR B TEZH
KB F#753,165,0008 7T (== — P4 :
20,657,000 70) B A E L (EIE -

FERRE  Re REMEWRERIERE
W7 ) &) BB 5 3018 49382,000 7 7T (=
T P94 4,133,000/ 70) © A E A
EIE - R B NARERSIR—FRE
= ©

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6(b). SHESHE Z SEEH R 6D)
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24.

25.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24,

RERBEEEY

2024
—FomE

HK$'000
THETT

Cash and bank balances Re RIRITE
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE 87 2,670
Denominated in RMB UNAR¥E 24 4,055
111 6,725
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the AR H K HNEE 78 38 <7 B INME B 1
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations. Bl -
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITRESBRIEFRRITFERARIZZEF

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

Based on the invoice date, the aging analysis of the trade

payables is as follows:

25.

REREUF B - |RITHEBRTFRNE
AT A0 R KRBV RTT o

B2 ENE
BEHEEH  BEAKENER D
m -

BRIFE

2025
—E-ERF

2024
“ECNF
HK$'000
TET

HK$'000
FTExT

Within 30 days 30 <A - 5,346
91-180 days 91E 180K - 2,899
Over 180 days 180 KA = 8,196 2,921

8,196 11,166

The Group’s credit terms generally range from 30 to 60 days

(2024: 30 to 60 days) from the invoice date.

AEENEEH - REBRZAHENTI0
ZOO0KR(ZEZMF : 302 60K) °
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26.

162

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HttENFIERETTER
2024
s SeuteS
HK$'000
FiBT
Salaries and welfare payables EANE i 4,212 8,120
Amount due to a non-controlling B FRRl—RIEER
shareholder of a subsidiary (note a) IR FRIA (M5t a) - 3,236
Other accrued expenses HibEsrix 4,164 2,887
Other tax payables H A e IR - 535
Other payables H A pERTFRIE 11,659 8,258
20,035 23,036
Notes: MTJ‘EJ\:E .
(@) Included in the amount due to a non-controlling shareholder (@) FERTF AT IEIE PR IR E A R B IR Ui

of a subsidiary was the consideration payable of
approximately RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to HK$3,236,000) for
acquisition of a subsidiary.

(b) Included in the other payables carried a loan from a director
of the Company of HK$1,166,000 (2024: nil).

All these amount due are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.
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BREE

As at

31 March
2025
NR-E_RE
=A=+—H
HK$'000
FExT

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27.

As at

31 March
2024
RZZZPOF

As at

1 April

2023
RZEZ=F
mA—H
HK$'000
FHT

Disclosures of revenue-related W AFBRETE B M EE

items:
Contract liabilities AHEE - 268 468
Contract receivables (included in & &)U FIE (5T A

trade receivables) 2 5 EWEIR) 28,553 41,577 44,040

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations
unsatisfied at end of year and expected to be recognised as

revenue in:
2025
—EB-RHF
HK$'000
FET
—Year ended 31 March 2025 —HE-_Z-FF
—A=+t—HIFE N/ATEA

DEEFRABITENEEL BN T
| B RER R AN R HERS

2024
—E_pUF
HK$'000
T

268

BE-A=t—HLFE 2025

—ZE_REF

Year ended 31 March

HK$'000
FET

Revenue recognised in the year FSTAFHIAHAER
that was included in contract FRERL G
liabilities at beginning of year 268

2024
—EOF
HK$'000
T

468
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. ER&EBE @)
significant changes in contract liabilities BHREBNEXREE
2025 2024
—E-HF —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT
Increase due to operations in the year IR [ A8 BB N 1,440 30,093
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue EHBEEEERA (1,708) (21,068)
Increased due to acquisition of g /NI bl
subsidiaries (note 35(b)) (P 5 35(h)) - (9,225)
A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to AHBEREASERE P EEE MRS
transfer products or services to a customer for which WEML  MAKED AR RERE
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of (RELEDEIE) -

consideration is due) from the customer.

28. BORROWINGS 28. BE
2025 2024
—E-HF —ET o
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Other loans repayable within one vear, AR —FAREER
unsecured EAMER - SR
Fixed interest rate at 6% [&] 7E FIZE 6% 4,281 3,869
Fixed interest rate at 20% [E]7E F 2= 20% - 7,265
Fixed interest rate at 24% (& 7E FIJ2E 24% 1,489 160
5,770 11,294
Included in the unsecured other loans carried fixed interest DEEFE 6% EMEEREMERBE
rate at 6% was loan from a shareholder of the Company of REARRE—HBREREE KL 4,281,000
approximately HK$4,281,000 (2024 HK$3,869,000). 0 (ZZ P4 : 3,869,000/87T) ©
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HHEE®E
The exposure of the Group's lease liabilities are as follows: AEEHREAGNRARINT
2025 2024
“ECRE “ECE
Minimum  Present value Minimum Present value
lease of lease lease of lease
payments liabilities payments liabilities
REAEAHE HEEECHRE FEESAFE HEaRZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET T TET
Minimum lease payment due: RO TRRISNRERERFE:
—Within one year -—ER 1,005 983 3017 2,802
~More than one year but not - BA—FETEARE
more than two years - - 2,093 2018
- More than two years but not —MEN LEMERTE
more than five years - - 759 746
1,005 983 5869 5,966
Less: Future finance charge W RRBEER (22) (303)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAREEE 983 5,566
Amounts due for settlement within —FREESZ AN
one year (shown Under FEMRRHEETHIR)
current liabilities) —(983) R
Amounts due for settlement —ERHER AT
after one year - 2,764
At 31 March 2025, the effective borrowing rate range is from R-E-REZA=+—H EREEF
3.45% 10 9.07% (2024: 3.45% t0 9.07%). Interest rates are fixed &N 3.45% % 9.07% (—F— P4 : 3.45%
_at the contrac_t Iijates and thus expose the Group to fair value =9.07%) o FIENALAET  EHA
interest rate risk. %Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ@%”;{@ﬁ R
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30.

31.

166

BOND AND INTEREST PAYABLE

Within 1 year —FNR

30.

BAEZRAE

2024
—E_pUF

HK$°000
THTT

= 700

= 700

On 22 October 2019, the Company issued a bond with
principal amount of HK$5,000,000 to an independent third
party with coupon interest of 6% per annum and a maturity
of 4 years from the date of issue. The effective interest rate
for the bond is 15% per annum after considering the direct
transaction costs.

PROMISSORY NOTE

On 25 November 2022, the Company issued the promissory
note with principal amount of HK$1,600,000 to the Mr. Mou
Zhongwei as consideration for the acquisition of the entire
equity interests of Mou Bros. Limited and its subsidiaries.
The promissory note is denominated in HKS$, unsecured,
transferrable, bear fixed interest at 8% per annum and
matured on two years after the date of issue. The Company
may at any time prior to the maturity date redeem the
promissory note at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
(inwhole or in part but not less than HK$1,000,000) in cash by
serving at least three business days' prior written notice on
the holder of the note.

On 30 August 2023, the Company issued the promissory
note with principal amount of RMB2,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,257,000) to a independent third party as consideration
for the acquisition of the 51% equity interests of Zixing Health
Technology (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“Zixing Health”).
The promissory note is denominated in RMB, unsecured,
transferrable, bear fixed interest at 10% per annum and
matured on one year after the date of issue. The Company
may at any time prior to the maturity date redeem the
promissory note at 100% of the outstanding principal amount
(in whole or in part) in cash by serving at least three business
days’ prior written notice on the holder of the note.
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32. EEBIBEEE
The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the REBNAFE RBEFEERNELR
Group and movements thereon during current and prior BEEREEHNT :
years:
Fair value
adjustment
of intangible
assets
BREEN
DNAERE
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FWA—H 611
Credit to profit or loss (note 14) FFAEE (EE14) (63)
Exchange difference PEH =58 (@
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-ZE-_NME=/A=+—HBK
—E-PUFIPA—H 544
Credit to profit or loss (note 14) FFAEZE (FIEE14) (543)
Exchange difference M 5 (1)
At 31 March 2025 WZE_RF=A=+—H -
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33.

168

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001
(2024 HK$0.004) each

33. KA

EE
FRMEE0.0001 BT
(ZF P94 : 0.00487T)

Number of
shares
RAEE

Nominal
value
EE
HK$'000
FET

2 Eimik
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RZE-_=FMA—H "
1 April 2024 ZEoMF=A=+—AK
“E-FINA—H 25,000,000 100,000
Capital reorganization (note a) EAREL (Hita) 975,000,000 -
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-_RF=A=1+—H 1,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid ERTREHR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0001 FAEE0.000178 T
(2024: HK$0.004) each (ZF M : 0.0047T)
2 ik
As at 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FA—H 1,528,456 6,114
Placing of new shares (note b) & #hi s (MizEb) 305,680 1,223
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-WMFE=A=1+—HxF
—E-FINA—H 1,834,136 7,337
Capital reorganization (note a) BAER (Mfeta) (1,742,429) (7,327)
Rights issue (note c) A% (B c) 275,120 27
As at 31 March 2025 RZZE-_hF=A=1+—H 366,827 37
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33. SHARE CAPITAL (continuea)

Notes:

@)

On 12 April 2024, the Company proposed to implement
the capital reorganization which involves (i) the share
consolidation on the basis that every 20 issued ordinary
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.004 each will be
consolidated into 1 issued consolidated share of par value
HK$0.08 each; (ii) the capital reduction whereby the total
number of issued consolidated shares resulting from the
share consolidation shall be rounded down to the nearest
whole number by cancelling any fraction of a consolidated
share in the total number of issued consolidated shares of
the Company and the reduction of the par value of each
issued consolidated share from HK$0.08 to HK$0.0001; and (i)
the sub-division of each authorized but unissued Share into
40 new shares of par value HK$0.0001 each. On 21 May 2024,
the capital reorganization is completed.

On 24 August 2023, the Company entered into the placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not
less than six independent placees for up to 305,691,261 new
shares at a price of HK$0.1 per placing share, for and on
behalf of the Company. On 11 September 2023, the placing
was completed and 305,680,000 new shares were issued.

On 13 August 2024, the Company issued and allotted
of 275,120,445 rights shares on the basis of three (3)
rights shares for every one (1) shares. On 9 September
2024, 20,177,518 rights shares provisionally allotted at
the subscription price of HK$0.10 per rights share. On 20
September 2024, 254,942,927 unsubscribed rights shares
were successfully placed at the price of HK$0.10 per share.
On 26 September 2024, the rights issue was completed.

33.

& NE D)
P
(@ R-ZB-NFNAT=A ARFEE

ZREREEZRERAR —T-_AFFER

EMENER HBRSROBRDE G
5185 20 I% & % F {5 0.004 4 T8
AARBBITETRKRAMHA—BRERE
B0.08/B LB BITA B ¢+ ()&
B BB BT AR R B BEITAH
B EEP TS IO B & OF
EENEBEITEHBRMAERTHES
BENEYH  TESREETAMRG
/B F1 0.08 7 7T % = 0.0001 78 7T
Ko (iil) ¥ FREE B AR BITRD IR 4 4 40
B BT (B 0.0001 7B TT T B9 » R —
E_NFERA-+—H  BEAEATK -

RZZTEZ=FN\A=+WEH A FH
EERBIIZESHE Bt BER
BREZEARRERARAIZEREERN
0.1 T2 BB NRTDRANBE L
it ABC & £x % 305,691,261 BETRLAD © 1
—E-=FNA+—H EBEFETK
277 305,680,000 AL FTAL 1D ©

RZZ-_WENA+Z=B ' AREET
BA— ()RR % = Q) IR A A h
2 E AT N FR B 275,120,445 AR A% A%
B e RZZE_MFNANA 20,177,518
B SRR B (0 1R R BB B = AR A% 3% 15 0.10
BAEERE - RZE_WEALA T
B -+ 254,942,927 I R ERBHBIMDE
ZER010E T EBRKINES - BN=
TZMFEABZFRE - HEEK -
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33.

170

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure on an annual
basis and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. Based on the review, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through raising or
repayment of borrowings, bond insurance or repayment,
share issuance and repayment of debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total
assets. At the reporting years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
the Group's gearing ratio was 5.8% and 7.5% respectively.
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34.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) has been adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 27 March 2020 for the
primary purpose to enable the Company to grant options to
eligible participants to subscribe for shares and will expire
on 27 March 2030. Under the Scheme, the board of directors
may grant options to the eligible participants, including an
employee, a director, a supplier of goods or services, a
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, an agent,
adviser, consultant, strategist, contractor, sub-contractor,
expert or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any valuable services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any securities issued by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted
to directors, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their associates shall be approved by the
independent non-executive directors and in any event that
the proposed participant is an independent non-executive
director of the Company, the vote of such independent non-
executive director shall not be counted for the purpose of
approving such grant. Options granted to independent non —
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Share capital or
with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company'’s shareholders.

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option granted
by the Company under Scheme shall be the sum of HK$1.
Options may be exercised at any time specified on the Option
certificate sealed by the Company. The exercise price of an
option is determined by the board of the directors, and will
not be less than the greater of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares on
the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
shares.

34.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTION

(Continued)

On 16 February 2023 the Company offered to grant a total of
71,414,239 share options under the share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 27 March 2020 to certain directors
and employees of the Group (the “Grantees”) to subscribe for
a total of 71,414,239 ordinary shares of HK$0.004 each of the
Company, subject to acceptance by the Grantees. The share
options shall be vested to the Grantees on 16 February 2024
and valid for 3 years commencing from 16 February 2023.
The remaining useful life of the share options is 0.88 years.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are
as follows:

34.

URBAERZNRRS (&)
RZZEZ=FZA+"H ARAAAE
BEETEEREES ([ABRADREZ2EBHAK
NEIR T _TFZA -+t AEMNE
Hx%:Jri\JIETE’Jé;#m 414,239 17 BE A% A -
REARNTA 71,414,239 B & 1% 0.004
%ﬁﬁ’a%ﬁ CMEBRRAER AR - BERR
%ﬂﬁ#:?:@i‘ﬂ‘#ﬁﬁ EEAEA
YE-_E-_=ZF A+ "BEF=ZFRE
x& o BEARIER TSR AT FE A I A 0.884F o

FRRRTEBRENFBOT

2025
b S 2

Number of

share options
EREYR

Outstanding at the beginning of the year ~ REMEATTEE 68,134,239
Effect of capital reorganization (note 33(a)) EAREAMEE (MiFE33(a) (64,727,528)
Effect of rights issuie (note 33(c)) HEREE2 (M3330) 667,715
Forfeited/lapsed during the year RERSY/ K3 (1,196,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year RERRFKITE 2,878,426
Exercisable at the end of the year RERATE 2,878,426

The binomial option pricing model has been used to

estimate the fair value of the share options. The variables

and assumptions used in computing the fair value of the
share options are based on the best assessment of the
directors on the valuer’s estimation. Changes in variables and
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the
share options.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
share-based payments of nil (2024: HK$3,186,000) in profit
or loss and the corresponding amount has been credited to
share option reserve.
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Weighted Weighted

average Number of average

exercise price share options EXercise price

METHETEE BREZXE  METEORE

HK$ HK$

BT BT

0.165 70,474,239 0.165

0.165 - N/ANER

2.759 - NATER

2.759 (2,340,000) 0.165

2.759 68,134,239 0.165

2.759 68,134,239 0.165
“IEAREEERA D AR A EREN
NABE-FEEREAALBEANES R

fEJ“EﬁEA§$3@ﬂETﬁEﬂﬂE#E’JE1 APl -
VEB R REERBREAE
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@

Acquisition of Jiading Global Limited
and its subsidiary

On 26 June 2023, the Company acquired 100% of the
entire equity interests in Jiading Global Limited and
its subsidiary, at cash consideration of HK$1. Jiading
Global Limited and its subsidiary is principally engaged
in sales of new energy off-road vehicles.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Jiading Global Limited and its subsidiary acquired as at
its date of acquisition is as follows:

35 WEET A

(@) Y Jiading Global Limited
EHEHFAT
RZTEZ=FXAZ+"H K
N A AR £ (B 178 7T W B Jiading
Global Limited & E F 72 &1 &) 2 2B %
# o Jiading Global Limited }2 & F 2
AE BN EHENERIFER RE o

Frris B8 Jiading Global Limited & &7
ARIRKE RN RNEERE
ERASERT

HK$'000
TAT

Net assets acquired: B HEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRUIE « e RHAEWEIE 291
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 201
Other payables and accruals HE A fEN FRIA R EET B A (1,607)
(1,115)
Goodwill EES 1,115
Satisfied by: PAAT A= ER -
Cash consideration ReRE =
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEEA MRS MAFE
Cash consideration paid ENESRE =3
Cash and cash equivalents acquired EERS RBESEEY 201
201
* Represented amount less than HK$1,000. * 5458 1,000 T2 K08 o
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

174

(@

Acquisition of Jiading Global Limited
and its subsidiary (continuea)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

The directors have engaged Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited (“Ravia”) to provide assistance in
determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of the Jiading Global Limited and its subsidiary in
accordance with HKFRS 13. Ravia has reviewed the
methodologies, the key valuation parameters and
business assumptions adopted.

Jiading Global Limited and its subsidiary contributed
approximately HK$2,260,000 and HK$2,118,000 to the
Group's revenue and loss for the year respectively for
the period between the date of acquisition and year
ended 31 March 2024.

If the business combinations effected during the
year ended 31 March 2024 had been taken place
at 1 April 2023, the revenue and loss of the Group
would have been approximately HK$112,671,000 and
approximately HK$16,750,000, respectively.
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(@

7B Jiading Global Limited
EEFRAT #)

WEELWEHEREREMLS 6
A B AR AR o R AR

EEEZERERIKGTHAZRNBR
AR ((WEDNBBHRIEDT BT B R
2 & Bl 513595 % ¢ Jiading Global
Limited R EFARIMNEERBEN
ARME - IREEEEFTRAMNAE -
FRMES2EMEBRR

RWBRBEHEE T _NF =
A=+—BLtFEHHE - Jading
Global Limited &z K F 2~ & & &
EEEHRFRRAREERS BIL
2,260,000 7t X 2,118,000 & 7T ©
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

(b)

Acquisition of Zixing Health

On 30 August 2023, the Company acquired 51%
of the entire equity interests in Zixing Health, at
consideration of HK$5,100,000 by cash consideration
of RMB3,000,000 and issuing the promissory note of
RMB2,100,000 (note 31). Zixing Health is principally
engaged in sales of health products.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Zixing Health acquired as at its date of acquisition is as
follows:

35. YEEFRAE#)

(b)

WIERERE
RZE_=FNA=1+H8" &~R7F
LA AE 5,100,0007%8 7t GR &R E A
R 3,000,000 7T & BT H A
R#2100,000 ) KELEERS
EORHERM51% (H3E31) - RE2/E
FEREHERER

Pl & 2 @ RN E S B im0 e
HAEERBENAMEDT

HK$'000
TAT

Net assets acquired: BREFEE

Property, plant and equipment Wi - R NRRE 33

Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,127

Inventories FE 16,184

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFRIA ~ e REAERGRIA 2,405

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEED 3,469

Other payables and accruals E A SRIA R EET B A (3,613)

Contract liabilities aHBIE (9,225)

Lease liabilities HEBE (1,066)
9,314

Non-controlling interests eI AE R (4,564)

Goodwill e 732
5,482

Satisfied by: PAAT A= ER -

Cash consideration not yet paid FMIBESREFTA

included in other payables Hih eI 3,225

Promissory note (note 31) I (FEE31) 2,257
5,482

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEENIRSRAFE

Cash and cash equivalents acquired BREREKIASEEY 3,469
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35. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

176

(b)

Acquisition of Zixing Health (continued)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is attributable
to the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination.

The directors have engaged Ravia to provide
assistance in determining the fair value of the assets
and liabilities of the Zixing Health in accordance with
HKFRS 13. Ravia has reviewed the methodologies, the
key valuation parameters and business assumptions
adopted.

Zixing Health contributed approximately HK$33,665,000
and HK$11,632,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit
for the year respectively for the period between the
date of acquisition and year ended 31 March 2024.

If the business combinations effected during the
year ended 31 March 2024 had been taken place
at 1 April 2023, the revenue and loss of the Group
would have been approximately HK$117,172,000 and
approximately HK$17,497,000, respectively.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Disposal of Glory Ray Global Limited
group

On 7 July 2023, the Company has disposed 100%
equity interest in Glory Ray Global Limited at the
consideration of HK$3,650,000.

Net liabilities at the date of disposal were as follows:

36. HETRAF
(a) HELARBBRBRELATNEE
RZE_=FtAtH XRFAE

HELNIRIKA R A B A 100% I
#E - {85 3,650,0008 7T °

REEREFAEMT -

HK$'000
FHT

Property, plant and equipment Y% - MR RIE 1,997
Trade receivables B S IEWGRIE 728
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFRIA ~ e REAERGRIA 12,654
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 324
Trade payables 2 S FIE (374)
Other payables and accruals Efth e RIE R EET B (4,847)
Borrowings BE (11,500)
Due to a related company JEfTEE R RIFRIE (96,836)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEFAE (97,854)
Waive of amount due from disposed subsidiaries WEEKE HEFARIKIE 96,836
Release of foreign currency translation reserve BRI INES A E (B 3,752
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFREE 916
Total consideration — satisfied by cash BB — IR S ER 3,650

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

HEELENRSRAFE

Cash consideration received BUIRERE 3,650
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERERIFASEEY (324)
3,326
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. #Z#8BE&RExRM
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) cCchanges in liabilities arising from () REITBRMEEZEEEE

financing activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in

TRIREANRERE B PTE

178

liabilities arising from financing activities during the EraEg
year:
I Lease

Borrowings interest payable liabilities Total

& ‘HEREMFE HEafE b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T BT BT THL

As at 1 April 2023 —Z-=fmA-A 19,336 5,299 1,613 26,248
Changes from financing cash flow gﬂﬁfﬁémizx 3,000 (5,000) (1833 (3.833)
Addition b))l - - 4516 4,516
Interest expenses BRZ 1,122 401 190 1713
Acquisition of subsidiaries AT - - 1,066 1,066
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAT (11,500) - - (11,500)
Exchange difference B E (664) - 14 (650)
As at 31 March 2024 and WE-ME=A=+-HkK 11,294 700 5,566 17,560

1 April 2024 “E-mENA-H

Changes from financing cash flow  BEBEREZES (7,028) (700) (2,397) (10,125)
Interest expenses fBRZ 1,504 - 176 1,680
Termination of leases RiEHE - = (2,359) (2,359)
Exchange difference EHER - - 3) (3)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-R%=A=1—H 5,770 - 983 6,753
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

38. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Transactions with related parties

Remuneration for key management personnel
represents amount paid to the directors as disclosed
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, there was no other material
related party transaction during the year.

Balance with related parties

Balances with related parties are disclosed in notes 23
and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed above did
not fall under the definition of connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, with which the Company
has complied throughout the year unless otherwise
disclosed.

38.

BEERRS
(@ SREERZZRS

(b)

ZREREEZRERAR —T-_AFFER

TBEEABZMEIESGRAMBR
RIGE BB D NERZFUR »

BAn A B RR M D R EE
Sh + BOANTE S BEAR L B AR
%5 o

BAE TS AR

B H SN R A B TS IR R 23
N 26 #EFE o

EX P ERRAE T X 5 IFGEM L
MHRAFE0ERMAEZHERIZL
SEWERD  BREREEN
ARBERBEFEETERRE
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. ARATHEARRE

180

THE COMPANY

2025
—E-HEF

HK$'000
TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yzt - e MR 322 506
Investments in subsidiaries RTFRAINRE - 1,600
322 2,106
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables =) e e 24,553 9,102
Amount due from subsidiaries (note (a)) FEYF R RIFUR (MiFE @) - 87,309
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - He Kk
other receivables HoA UK IR 53,836 20,696
Cash and cash equivalents RePRSFEY 27 103
78,416 117,210
Current liabilities RBAE
Other payables and accruals HAbJET /I R ERT B R 7,324 10,611
Borrowings BE 5,770 11,294
Bond and interest payable EREHRFB - 700
13,094 22,605
Net current assets RBEETFHE 65,322 94,605
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAE 65,644 96,711
Non-current liabilities FERBARG
Bond and interest payable JERHES R FE - 700
Promissory note IR = 4,138
- 4,838
Net assets EEFE 65,644 91,873
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BAREHE
Share capital %N 37 7,337
Reserves (note (b)) i (B (0) 65,607 84,536
65,644 91,873

JIADING INTERNATIONAL GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B i8R R KisT

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZ —ZE - RAF = A=+—HIFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. ARRFRIMBAMRRT @)
THE COMPANY (continuea)
Notes: BeE -
(a) Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free (@) FEWFATRBAEIER - Tt 8 HA
and repayable on demand. RERES o
(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: (b) NARREBHENT -
Share  Accumulated Merger
premium losses reserve Total
7R ME RitEE i st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AT THET BT
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=A=1+—H 657,262 (597,626) 13,107 72,743
Loss for the year FEFE - (16,858) - (16,858)
Placing of new shares (note 33(b) B2 & #7A% (3 (P 3 33(b) 29,345 - - 29,345
Transaction costs incurred in HEERNEEZRHHKA (694) - (694)

connection with placing of shares

At 31 March 2024 and RZE-_ME=A=1+—H 685,913 (614,484) 13,107 84,536
1 April 2024 R=Z-MmEFmMA—A

Loss for the year FEEE - (51,993) - (51,993)

Capital reorganization (note 33(a)) EAEAA (K5£33()) 7,327 - - 7,327

Rights issue (note 33(c)) % (P 33(c)) 27,485 - - 27,485

Transaction costs incurred in PEERNEEZRHHA (1,748) - - (1,748)

connection with rights issue

At 31 March 2025 R-ZB-RFZA=+-H 718,977 (666,477) 13,107 65,607
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40. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 40. FREFHIE
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March RZBE-ZRAFER-Z-UF=A=+—H"
2025 and 2024 are as follows: RABEBTRBIFBNOT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
registration paid up Percentage of ownership interest/ Principal
Name of subsidiaries and operation capital voting power/profit sharing activities
AL ERTR RERERRER/

TARER ER e HREX RSB EDLL FEEK
2025 2024
—E_RE “E-NE
Direct Indirect | Direct Indirect
BEE m& B# &

Riseful Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ABREBARAR BB BE1VAET 1 BRERR REER
Jiading Global Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% - 100% - Provision of
advertising services
ERBFARAR BB BE1ET 1BRERR REESERYE
Hainan Weishi New Energy The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% - 100% Provision of graphene
Technology Company battery fast-charging
Limited solutions
B R R R AR A H AR #30,000,0007C RULEGEED
REBRAR
Weishi (Shenzhen) New Energy The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Sales of new energy
Technology Development batteries
Company Limited
MR ORI AR R R R H AR 30,000,0007 HENEREL
BRAF
Jiading New Energy Vehicle The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Sales of new energy
Technology (Dongguan) off-road vehicles
Company Limited
RERMERAIENR (RR) w AR 30,000,000 HEMRR
BRATF RS
Zixing Health The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 51% - 51% Sales of health
products
ZERE H AR 10,000,000 7T HERRM
Sichuan Yirui Health Technology The PRC RMB1,000,000 - 51% - 51% Sales of health
Company Limited products
M RHREMEERAR H AKH#1,000,000 7T HERRER
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40.

41.

42.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continuea)

As at 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") amounted to HK$24,000 (2024: HK$4,055,000).
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 4 February 2025, a winding-up petition (the “Petition”)
was filed against the Company by a creditor (the “Petitioner”)
at the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Court”) in relation to the alleged debt of
approximately HK$6.38 million, allegedly being the principal
and interest due and owing by the Company to the Petitioner
under several loan agreements.

At the hearing on 19 May 2025, the Company opposed
the Petition, as there are genuine disputes regarding the
Petitioner’s claim. The Court dismissed the Petition with costs
awarded to the Company, on the basis that the Petitioner
failed to establish a sufficient case, and the Company
demonstrated bona fide disputes concerning the alleged
debt claimed by the Petitioner. For details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 19 November 2024, 5
February 2025, 25 April 2025 and 19 May 2025.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidation financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June
2025.

40.

41.

42.

FARFE @)
RZE_RAF=A=1+t—"H UARHK
(TAREDFENREEFE TR AR
1TRIRE 488 524,000 (ZE - MF :
4,055,000 7T) o ARME H I INE B8 <F
R EBISNE B FIHE?] o

HEHEREIE

RZEBE_RAF_ANAB —ZEBA(Z
BADBBEBENTRES SR (DX
DR —MHEARTNERES (&
25 SR —EBEHNIBEEBLN
B ZEBERALNRABREZNDER
AR EBANEERFIE

RZZEZRHFRAATAAMNRAY KA
AAZFANBRFEAEEFEMREZ
2B FRERZFARENEH TS E
B MARFRBATHEEABBOES
FHEEBANF# (bona fide disputes) » &%
BEZ2F  WHSARREENLE - F
BRESHARRBHA S _NE+—A
+hB ZZE_RF_AFHA —ZT_F
FEMA -+ AEBRR-_ZE-_AFERAT+NA

A% -
SRS PR

FEMBRAAEFEN_FT_AF <A
=T AR T -
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hFIBHE

A summary of the published consolidated results and statement of T3 AREBRBERFHE ZGAEENEESR
assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five years, is set out EXREE :
below:

RESULTS E 3

Continuing and discontinued operations
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022
—EoOF —EBE-=F —ZT-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FA&IT T

Revenue WA 88,284 112,671 97,068 63,900 67,512

(Loss)/profit attributable AN EHEA AFE(L

to the owners of the (E18),%F
Company (64,777) (16,105) 67,173) (44,321) 2,386
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
As at 31 March
MR=RA=+—H
2025 2023 2022
—E_RE —ETE-=F ZE-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT F&TT
Total assets WEE 98,839 160,007 130,272 141,940 80,225
Total liabilities BEE 35,039 57,282 (51,415) (72,661) (43,660)
Net assets BEFR 63,800 102,725 78,857 69,279 36,565
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